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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The New York City Economic Development Corporation (NYCEDC) proposes to rezone for the purposes
of future private redevelopment a portion of the Staten Island waterfront, located in the Stapleton
neighborhood on the north shore of Staten Island. The Proposed Action consists of rezoning, street
mapping/demapping, capital funding, permits, and property disposition, on and adjacent to, the former
U.S. Navy Homeport in the Stapleton section of Staten Island. The area subject to the Proposed Action
includes the former Homeport, generally bounded by the approximate extension of St. Julian Place to the
north, Front Street to the west, Vanderbilt Avenue to the south, and the U.S. Pierhead line to the east (the
Homeport Site), and the adjacent properties located within the bounds of Hannah Street to the north, the
Staten Island Rapid Transit (SIRT) right-of-way (ROW) and Bay Street to the west, Willow Avenue to
the south, and the U.S. Pierhead line to the east. This project area corresponds to the project’s Area of
Potential Effect (APE). Infrastructure improvements, to be implemented concurrently with the
redevelopment of the Homeport Site, include shoreline stabilization, roadway and sidewalk
reconstruction, site utility preparation, installation of new water/sewer mains, and the rehabilitation,
replacement or relocation of existing water/sewer mains. In addition, the Proposed Action seeks to
encourage complementary private mixed-use development of parcels west of Front Street between Wave
and Thompson Streets through the implementation of a zoning Special Stapleton Waterfront District
{SSWD).

The size and scope of the Proposed Action may generate significant adverse envirenmental impacts and,
as a result, a DEIS must be prepared. As specified in 6 NYCRR 617, and 62 RCNY 5 (and Executive
Order No. 91), a Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS) is appropriate to assess the environmental
impacts of the Proposed Action. A Positive Declaration was issued under CEQR by NYCEDC, the Lead
Agency, on October 31, 2005 discussing the need to prepare the DEIS. This document identifies
designated and potential cultural resources (both archaeological and historic architectural resources) that
may be affected by the proposed project, and assesses the proposed action’s effects on those resources.
This Cultural Resource Assessment will be submitted to the New York City Landmarks Preservation
Commission (LPC) for their review and concurrence of the document’s recommendations.

As a function of the DEIS for the proposed New Stapleton Waterfront Plan, a cultural resource
assessment was undertaken. In accordance with CEQR guidelines, the initial task established the APE for
archaeological and historic architectural resources that may be affected by the various components of the
proposed action. For archaeological resources, LPC identified 11 lots within the proposed project area
possessing potential for archaeological resources. Research was conducted on the ownership and
occupation history of these 11 lots while no further research beyond general background information was
conducted on the remaining lots. As for historic architectural resources, the project area plus the blocks
immediately adjacent to the project area corresponded to the historic architectural resource survey area (or
APE).

The documentary study concluded that all of the 11 lots are either too disturbed or lack the potential for
deposits of residential archacological resources. Analysis of the historic shoreline evolution revealed six
locations with the potential to contain historic archaeological resources associated with the waterfront
development in the 19" century. The comprehensive support for these conclusions is included in the
following report.

The proposed project may create a potential effect on one historic architectural resource within the
architectural APE, 144-150 Front Street property, determined eligible for listing on the S/NR. Since the
structures on the property may be demolished as part of the development defined in the RWCDS, the
Proposed Action would result in a direct significant adverse impact. Since the property is currently
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privately owned and will be rezoned and developed privately, no mechanism exists under CEQR that
requires further environmental/historic review for private development. Therefore, the significant adverse
impact on 144-150 Front Street would result in an unmitigated impact.
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1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION
1.1 Project Description

The New York City Economic Development Corporation (EDC) proposes to rezone the former U.S. Navy
Homeport and several surrounding lots in the Stapleton section of Staten Island (Figure 1). The area
subject to the rezoning includes the former Homeport, generally bounded by the approximate extension of
St. Julian Place to the north, Front Street to the west, Vanderbilt Avenue to the south, and the U.S,
Piethead line to the east (the Homeport Site), and adjacent properties located within the bounds of
Hannah Street to the north, the Staten Island Rapid Transit (SIRT) right-of-way (ROW) and Bay Street to
the west, Willow Averue to the south, and the U.S. Pierhead line to the east (altogether, the Project Area).
The redevelopment of the Homeport Site would result from the sale or lease of portions of the former
Homeport by the City of New York to private developers, and would include residential,
restaurant/banquet facility, sports complex, local retail, farmers market, and commercial uses. The
redevelopment also would encourage complementary private development in the area west of Front Street
and east of the SIRT tracks through the establishment of a special zoning district allowing mixed-use
development, as described below. In addition, the redevelopment project includes the creation of a
waterfront esplanade and public open space, the realignment and reconstruction of Front Street, which
runs through the Project Area, and preparation of the Homeport Site to accommodate the development
program. Infrastructure improvements to be implemented concurrently with the redevelopment of the
Homeport Site include shoreline stabilization, roadway and sidewalk reconstruction, site ufility
preparation, installation of new water/sewer mains and rehabilitation, replacement or relocation of
existing water/sewer mains.

As part of this action, EDC is undertaking a Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS) for the
proposed Stapleton rezoning project. Consideration for cultural resources, including both archaeological
and historic architectural resources, must be undertaken as part of the City Environmental Quality Review
(CEQR) process. The following Phase 1A Cultural Resource Assessment, establishes Areas of Potential
Effect (APEs) for the project (e.g. the areas where the proposed project may affect potential
archaeological and historic architectural resources), identifies designated and potential cultural resources
that may be affected by the proposed project, and assesses the proposed action’s effects on those
resources. This Phase 1A Cultural Resource Assessment will be submitted to the New York City
Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC).

This study was performed for compliance with the City Environmental Quality Review (CEQR) and the
report was prepared in accordance with the Landmarks Preservation Commission Guidelines for
Archaeological Work in New York City (April 2002). The cultural resource specialists who performed the
investigations meet the standards specified in 36 CFR 66.3(b) (2) and 36 CFR 62.

1.2 Areas of Potential Effect

The proposed rezoning project encompasses the following 21 city lots: Block 487, Lot 110 (the Homeport
Site), Block 487, Lot 100 (partial); Block 489, Lot 25; Block 490, Lots 24, 26, 37, 45; Block 491, Lots
29, 32, 37,41, 42, 46; Block 492, Lots 29, 31; Block 493, Lot 12; Block 494, Lots 18, 19,21,24,30. A
list of these 21 lots was submitted to LPC, who reviewed the list of lots to be affected by the proposed
rezoning in order to assist EDC in fulfilling their environmental review obligations. Based upon LPC’s
review of the above 21 lots, it was LPC’s recommendation that the following 11 lots should be further
researched in an archaeological documentary study as such lots have the potential to contain significant
nineteenth century archaeological resources which may be impacted by the proposed rezoning project:

Block 487, Lot 110

New York City Economic Development Corporation Page 1
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Block 489, Lot 25

Block 490, Lots 24 and 26
Block 491, Lot 29

Block 492, Lot 31

Biock 493, Lot 12

Block 494, Lot 18, 19, 21 and 24

The LPC list of the 11 lots defines the project’s archaeological Area of Potential Effect (APE) for the
Phase [A Cultural Resource study (Figure 2).

LPC also determined that there are no further concerns for the 10 remaining lots (see Appendix A for
documentation submitted to LPC and received from LPC).

The architectural APE was defined to include the lots designated for rezoning plus the next adjacent block
to the west. The architectural APE encompasses the area bounded by Hannah Street to the north, the U.S.
Pierhead to the east, Greenfield Avenue to the south and Bay Street to the west (Figure 3).

1.3 Scope of Work and Project Personnel

This Phase 1A Cultural Resource Survey consisted of background research on the project area and its
immediate vicinity, assessing the potential to encounter archaeological resources within the [1 LPC-
selected lots and an architectural survey of the architectural APE. The archaeological assessment was
designed to determine the prior usage and occupancy of each lot, determine if historical resources and/or
their associated features existed within the each lot and have the potential to be archaeclogically
significant, identify the extent of prior disturbances such as grading and construction, which would have
caused subsurface impacts to potential resources and assess potential project impacts of each lot identified
with archaeological potential.

The archaeological study was designed to address two major questions. What is the likelihood that
potential historic archaeological resources of significance exist within each LPC-selected lot, and, what is
the likelihood that such resources have survived later disturbances? In the case of nineteenth century
residential resources, attempts were made to establish the date of dwelling construction, occupancy, and
ownership, and the length of time a dwelling stood prior to the availability of public utilities.
Documentary research also focused on establishing the extent of impacts from prior construction, and
establishing each lot’s historical occupancy and use to assess archaeological potential. Any structure built
concurrently with or after the availability of piped sewer and water was assumed to lack the need for
associated yard features such as privies, cisterns, and wells. Furthermore, if continuous occupancy for a
building could not be established for the years during which a structure stood prior to the availability of
city sewer and water, it was considered to lack archaeological research potential.

To accomplish these goals the Louis Berger Group, Inc. performed a documentary and cartographic
review of each LPC-selected lot. Research was conducted at various institutions, such as the Staten
Island Institute of Arts and Sciences, the New York Public Library — St. George Branch, the Division of
Topography - Staten Island Borough Hall, the Richmond County Clerk’s Office and the New York City
Department of Environmental Protection’s Bureau of Sewer and Water Operations (NYC DEP). Only the
date that a water line was installed in the street adjacent to each potentially sensitive lot was available
from the NYC DEP.

Site file searches were performed at the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation, and Historic
Preservation (NYSOPRHP), the New York State Museum in Albany (NYSM), and (LPC). In addition to
documentary research, field visits were undertaken as required. At this time, site photographs were taken.

New York City Economic Development Corporation Page 3
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Zachary Davis, RPA, Senior Archaeologist, served as Project Manager for the project. Historic
architectural resources were evaluated by Stuart Dixon, Senior Architectural Historian. Background
research was conducted by Dr. Gerard Scharfenberger, Susanne Mazziotta, Tracy Neuman, and William
Weir. Mr. Davis, Ms. Mazziotta and Mr. Dixon authored the report while the graphics were assembled by
Mr. Davis.
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2.0 ENVIRONMENTAL SETING
2.1 Project Area and Current Land Use

The northeast shoreline of Staten Island can readily be characterized as urban, containing residences
together with support services such as stores, restaurants, gas stations and professional offices. The
project area's major route parallels the shoreline (approximately at Bay Street) and passes roughly south
to north through several contiguous and undifferentiated urban communities (e. g, Rosebank, Clifton,
Tompkinsville). The commuter lines of the Staten Island Rapid Transit Railway also run roughly parallel
to the coast, coming particularly close between Rosebank and the ferry terminal. The dominant structural
feature, however, is the extensive dock and port facility. Currenily largely unused, many of the 25
commercial piers are in a state of noticeable decay. Still active though, is the St. George Ferry Terminal,
the main docking facility for the Staten Island Ferry,

2.2 Geomorphology

The pre-Cambrian metamorphic bedrock of Staten Island is part of a deeply buried extension of the
downward-trending Manhattan Formation (Schuberth 1968: 83). The major formations of the island are
of two types: 1. consolidated rocks, such as serpentine, schist, gneiss, sandstone, shale and diabase; and 2.
consolidated deposits, consisting principall of gravel, sand, silt and clay (Perlmutter and Arnow 1953:
213. The northwestern portion of the island is dominated by Triassic sandstone and shales of the Newark
group which enclose a long, narrow exposure of intrusive Palisades Diabase. A small area of marshland
covers the northwestern extremity of the island.

Dominating the north-central region is a large outcropping of serpertine which is the southern exposure of
the Manhattan Prong (Schuberth 1968: 304). Unconsolidated deposits of the Cretaceous period cover
most of the rest of the island. These deposits consist primarily of clays,-silts, sands and gravels of the
Raritan Formation. The project area falls within the Raritan Formation. The Wisconsin terminal moraine,
consisting mostly of clay, sand, sandstone, diabase, granite and gneiss, forms an irregular, roughly
semicircular ridge running from Stapleton to Tottenville (Wallace et al. 1967). Two major pockets of
marshland lie to the east and south of the terminal moraine. Most of the island therefore is overlain by
directly deposited Pleistocene glacial debris in layers of varying thickness with some glacial outwash
found to the south and east of the terminal moraine.

23 Previously Excavated Soil Borings

Previously excavated soil borings were reviewed to ascertain the general nature of the project area’s soil
profile and extent of late 19® and early 20" century landfilling. Soil borings were excavated in the 1980s
and are presented in Figure 4. The soil borings were distributed across the current project area, with the
majority of the soil borings located between Front Street and the bulkhead line. All soil borings that
coincided with the Stapleton Waterfront Rezoning project area are presented in Appendix B.

The soil borings excavated on the terrestrial portion of the project area indicate the project area contains
fill covering from 0-30 feet in depth below the surface. Underlying the fill layer are dark, organic soils
derived from the historic harbor bottom that existed prior to the creation of fast land during the 18"
through 20" century waterfront construction. It appears that any potential archaeological resources
associated with the development of the Stapleton waterfront would be expected within a depth of 0-30
feet below the surface.
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3.0 BACKGROUND
31 Prehistoric Overview

The following prehistoric overview is based upon data derived from sites in Staten Island and, to a lesser
depree, general patterns of prehistoric settlement in the Middle Atlantic Region. Regional patterns of
prehistoric settlement provide a context from which to determine the types of occupation that are likely to
have occurred in the area of the project site during the prehistoric era. Prehistoric cultural history was
derived from archaeological site reports and syntheses. Many prehistoric sites have been identified and
excavated in western Staten Island, and many of the sites are multicomponent, which reflects the repeated
occupation of preferred habitats, such as sandy uplands overlooking streams and wetlands (Skinner 1909).

Three major periods are commonly used to describe the prehistoric cultures of New York— Paleoindian,
Archaic, and Woodland. The earliest recognized aboriginal occupation of New York dates to the
Palecindian period (11,000-9000 BP), which is characterized by the use of distinctive fluted lanceolate
points. The location of known Paleoindian sites suggests a preference for high, well-drained ground,
located near streams or wetlands, offering vantage points for observing game. Port Mobil, a2 Palecindian
site located on the westem shores of Staten Island, dates to circa 10,000 BP, and was interpreted as a
small, resource-procurement/hunting encampment (Eisenberg 1978; Funk 1977). The artifact assemblage
from the site includes fluted points, unfluted trianguloid points, scrapers, knives, borers, and gravers. It is
probable that many Paleoindian sites were situated on what is now the continental shelf, which has been
submerged as a result of rising sea levels since the retreat of the Wisconsin glacier (Edwards and Merrill
1977). The Port Mobil Paleoindian site is located approximately 10.5 miles (17.5 kilometers) southwest
from Stapleton.

Paleoindian economy may have centered on the hunting of game. Although other economic activities,
such as the gathering of plant foods, may have been equally important (Roosevelt et al. 1996), they have
left little or no trace in the archaeological record. Lithic technologicai considerations may have also
contributed to Palecindian landscape settlement patterns. Goodyear (1989) suggests that high-quality
cryptocrystalline materials (i.e., chert, jasper, and chalcedony) were the materials most commonly used to
manufacture fluted lanceolate projectile points. He suggests that Paleoindians used high-guality lithic
materials when producing fluted points because of the predictable manner in which these materials
fractured, thereby decreasing the possibility of catastrophic fractures occurring as a result of internal (and
hidden) flaws, typically present in low-quality lithic materials. This dominance of high-quality lithic
materials suggests that Paleoindians sought out high-quality materials, a hypothesis that is supported by
the presence of high-quality lithic materials derived from great distances {(up to 300 kilometers) at
Paleoindian sites. However, recent geoarchaeological surveys have challenged this assumption by
identifying local sources for Paleoindian lithic material (LaPorta 1994; Moeller 1999). These recent
studies suggest that Paleoindians were occasionally manufacturing fluted projectile points on local and
poorer quality lithic materials.

Paleoindian site distribution in New York and nearby New Jersey suggests a preference for high, well-
drained ground near streams or wetlands, offering vaniage points for observing game. Sites have also
been located in rockshelters, near lithic source areas, and on lower river terraces. It is probable that many
Paleoindian sites were situated on what is now the continental shelf (Marshall 1982).

Climatic warming during the Holocene led to sea level rise and changes in drainage patterns as well as
vegetation; by 8500 BP, oak and hemlock forests replaced the predominantly pine forests of the area. The
ecological changes brought about by the warmer Holocene climates subsequently encouraged population
migrations and the development of the new subsistence strategies which characterize the Archaic period
(9000-3000 BP), Compared with the Paleoindian period, a wider variety of artifact types was used during
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the Archaic. This suggests that a greater diversity of subsistence and technological activities was
pursued, although hunting still appears to have been the major focus.

Differences in tool assemblages, projectile point types, and preferred lithic materials characterize the
Early, Middle, and Late Archaic subperiods (Coe 1964; Ritchie 1980). Early Archaic sites identified on
Staten Island include the Old Place Site, the Ward's Point Site, and the Richmond Hill Site, all of which
have produced Kirk components dated circa 7260 to 8250 BP; the Richmond Hill Site also contained 2
Palmer component that may be associated with a radiocarbon date of 9360 BP (Ritchie and Funk 1971,
1973:38-39).

With the exception of several Kanawha and LeCroy-like points from the Ward's Point Site (Jacobson
1980:56), Middle Archaic remains are rare on Staten Island. Unfortunately, so little is known about the
Middle Archaic occupation of the region that it is often linked with either the Early or Late Archaic in
discussions of prehistory (Kraft and Mounier 1982)

Late Archaic sites, on the other hand, are relatively common on Staten Island. These sites are
characteristically situated on tidal inlets, coves, and bays. Site location and contents suggest that Late
Archaic hunter-gatherer groups exploited various marine resources, including shellfish and fish. The sites
are typically small and multicomponent because of reoccupation, as preferred locations for resource
procurement. Changes that occur in the Late Archaic aboriginal/indigenous toolkits reflect an expansion
in the variety of utilized resources. Some of these changes include the manufacturing of fishing gear,
such as netsinkers (weights), fishhooks, and an increase in the use of groundstone to cobble tools (Ritchie
1980:143). The increased utilization of marine and estuarine resources in this period is associated with
the stabilization of coastal environments (Edwards and Merrill 1977).

The Archaic remains found on Staten Island are mainly represented by the narow point tradition, which
includes Poplar Island and Bare Island types. Links with these cultural traditions suggest affinity with the
Middle Atlantic Region in New Jersey (Ritchie 1980:145). Many points that are characteristic of the Late
Archaic occupations of Staten Island are made of argillite, which is not found locally. The nearest source
of this material is within the Lockatong Formation of central New Jersey, which is exposed above and
below the Palisade Sill south of the George Washingion Bridge (Didier 1975). Other artifacts associated
with the so-called Bare Island components on Staten Island include banner stones, steatite bowls, grooved
axes, cylindrical pestles, and hammerstones (Ritchie 1980:149).

The Terminal Archaic or Transitional period (3000-2700 BP) is characterized by distinctive technologies
that included production of soapstone vessels and a variety of broad-bladed projectile point types. The
appearance of soapstone or steatite vessels and artifacts during this period provides evidence of
interregional trade and also suggests increased residential stability, since stone bowls are items not easily
transportable from site to site. Terminal Archaic remains on Staten Island also have been found in
association with shell middens, which represent an intensification of coastal-oriented economies.

The Woodland period (circa 700 BC to AD 1600) occupation on Staten Island is characterized by the
introduction of ceramic technology. The earliest ceramics recognized in coastal New York are grit-
tempered wares similar to a Vinette I-style series, which is U-shaped with a rounded conical point when
seen from top edge to bottom. Changes in pottery temper, vessel form, and surface treatments are useful
chronological indicators. Middle Woodland ceramics include shell-tempered wares with cord and net
impressions; Late Woodland ceramics include various collared vessels with incised as well as dentate and
cordmarked decoration.

While Early Woodland occupants appear to have followed hunting and gathering lifeways, plant
cultivation became increasingly important during the Late Woodland period. Changes in subsistence
practices and population growth led 10 increased settlemnent, which resulted in the appearance of villages.
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Various research has identified and examined the agricultural practices in coastal New York during the
late Prehistoric and Contact periods and their effects on settlement patterns (Ceci 1979,1982; Silver
1984).

At the time of European contact, Staten Island was occupied by the Munsee, a group of the Algonquian-
speaking Lenape, also called the Delaware Indians, who lived in what is now eastern Pennsylvania, New
Jersey, and southern New York. The Native populations maintained loosely structured, autonomous
bands that resided in small dispersed settlements. The territories of the various Native groups that have
been distinguished linguistically are uncertain, partly due to the lack of fixed "tribal” boundaries.
Increased contact with European traders and settlers resulted in the breakdown of traditions and increased
reliance on European goods in exchange for land and furs (Goddard 1978; Kraft 1986).

3.1.1  Prehistoric Site Potential

A search of the archaeological site records on file at the New York Siate Museum revealed a total of
seven recorded archaeological sites either in the survey area or within a one-mile radius of the Stapleton
Waterfront redevelopment project area (Figure §; Table I). Of these previously identified archaeclogical
sites, six represent evidence of prehistoric occupation of the project area and vicinity.

Table 1 — Known Archaeological Sites within One Mile of the
Stapleton Waterfront Redevelopment Project Area

Site Number | Description Source
4629 Traces of prehistoric occup?ﬁon, scattered relics, along Shore Rd., Parker 1922
near St. George (ferry terminal)

Quarantine grounds/Marine Hospital. Soil borings conducted in
2001 yielded human bone fragments (female tibia) in the Historical Perspectives,
approximate location of the 2" Quarantine Grounds cemetery, used | Inc. 2001

between ¢. 1845 and ¢.1858

08501.002760

8472 Prehistoric camp Parker 1922
Possible Middle or Late Woodiand site; described as containing

4618 many triangular *war points’ in a small area, far from any known Parker 1922
camp or village; located on Ward’s Hill near Cebra Avenue.

6956 Prehistoric camp site Parker 1922

4613 Prehistoric camp sites; described as camp sites containing a pit with | Parker 1922; Skinner
shell and pottery 1909

8478 Traces of prehistoric occupation NYSM

The potential to encounter prehistoric archacological resources within the project area is complicated by
the project’s location on landfilled area that was within the New York Harbor until the late nineteenth
century. Furthermore, extensive pier and wharf development along the shore in the 18" through 20"
centuries has diminished the project area’s potential to contain prehistoric archaeological resources.
Lastly, the dredging operations conducted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in the late twentieth
century have further reduced the potential to encounter prehistoric archaeological resources along the
shoreline. Therefore, the probability that prehistoric archaeological resources exist within the Stapleton
Rezoning project area is rather minimal to non-existent.
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3.2 Historic Background

Staten Island, seen by Henry Hudson of the Duich East India Company when his ship "Half Moon"
entered the Lower Bay in September 1609, was settled under Dutch auspices beginning in the 1620s.
Attempted development under David-Pietersen De Vries, beginning in 1636, and Cornelius Melyn, from
1642, was troubled by-resistance from native Indian populations, culminating in the "Peach War" of 1655
which "depopulated” Staten Island to the point where "settlement had to be re-commenced” (Bayles 1887:
58). Under the West India Company, the 1660s saw new settlements on the island, particularly by French
Huguenots and Walloons from the Flanders region of northern Europe (Smith 1970).

In 1664, New Netherland, including Staten Isiand, was taken over by Great Britain, which pressed its suit
on the basis of Sebastian Cabot's "discovery" of North America for the crown in 1497. The last Native
American claims to Staten Island were extinguished in 1670, and in 1683 the island was organized as the
County of Richmond. Settlement of Staten Island continued under the British with significant numbers of
Huguenots arriving in the last years of the seventeenth century (Bayles 1887: 91). However, by the mid-
eighteenth century, Staten Island's population was a mix of Dutch, French and English, with the last, by
this time, in the majority.

During the eighteenth century, Staten Island developed as a primarily agricultural area, with the county
seat of Richmond Town (originally Coccles Town) being the principal village. The products of a mixed
farming economy included beef, pork, wheat and rye, and apples. Fish, oysters and clams were
commonly taken from the waters about the island (Smith 1970).

Contact with neighboring areas, such as New Jersey, New York and Long Island, depended on local ferry
services. There were several ferries in operation by the 1770s, including Doyle's at the Watering Place
(also known as First Landing and later the site of Tompkinsville), Cole's (near Stapleton), and
Fredrickson's at the Narrows (Bayles 1887). In July 1776, British forces under General William Howe
landed at the Watering Place. Put under "strict military rule," the island was used as a staging area for
British assaults on Long Island, and as a "jumping-off place” for operations into the Jerseys (Cohn 1962).
A variety of military camps and fortifications were built, among them a redoubt overlooking the narrows
on the point called "Signal Hill," which is the site of the seventeenth century Dutch blockhouse. The
island remained under British occupation until all forces were withdrawn from the New York area in
November 1783.

In the decades following the Revolution, the relatively pastoral quality of life on Staten Island began to
change. In the 1790s, the state of New York initiated plans for a comprehensive system of harbor
defense. This included construction of two masonry forts (Tompkins and Richmond) and two smaller
batteries at the Narrows, which were begun in 1808. Further north, at the Watering Place, Governor
Daniel Tompkins purchased from the Church of St. Andrew's large portions of Duxbury Glebe. Part of
this area was used for construction of Tompkinsville; another part was set aside for a quarantine station
and hospital facility. The Federal Government also established its presence here, through operation of a
revenue station and, later, a lighthouse depot.

In the early nineteenth century, Staten Island began to attract wealthy families from New York City.
They initially built large summer houses along the coasts and gradually began to remain year-round,
particularly in communities such as New Brighton, Stapleton, and Clifion.

The progressive urbanization of the island continued during the nineteenth century. Industry and
commerce grew apace; especially warehousing and shipping which required increased construction of
nmumerous docks and piers. A concurrent burgeoning in residential development caused the increasing
subdivision of former estates and farms.
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In 1896, Staten Island became part of New York City, as the Borough of Richmond (Smith 1970). The
island's historic isolation, for 300 years accessible only by ferry or other water crafi, was ended in the
1920s with construction of the Goethals Bridge and of the Outerbridge Crossing. The Bayonne Bridge
was operational in 1931, and the Verrazano Namrows Bridge in 1964.

3.2.1. History of Stapleton

Prior to the mid-nineteenth century, the entirety of the project area was located within the New York
Harbor (Figures 6 and 7). The Stapleton area had become a locally important transportation center by the
late eighteenth century. it was the western terminus for Cole's Ferry, one the three ferries permitted to
serve the island during the American Revolution (TAMS 1982). During the war, Cornelius Van der Bilt,
"Commodore” Vanderbilt's father and an early resident of the area, transported produce across the bay to
British occupied New York. Afier the evacuation of the city, he operated a ferry from Stapleton to
Whitehall Landing in downtown Manhattan (Eberlein 1928). Between 1788 and 1814, a periagua ferry —
a flatboat powered by oars and/or sails — was operated by Abraham Van Duzer from a landing on the
Stapleton shore (Leng and Davis 1930). In 1817, the first Staten Island steam ferry, the "Nautilus,” began
service between the east shore and Whitehall Street (Betancourt 1955).

In July of 1836, Minthorne Tompkins (the daughter of Daniel Tompkins, who served as Governor of New
York State and Vice-President under President James Monroe)} and William J. Staples formally
established the village of Stapleton on attract which included the Cole's Ferry landing, which they had
purchased from the Vanderbilt family in 1833 (Leng and Davis 1930, TAMS 1982). The village grew
rapidly, and the ferries prospered as trade and industry grew. Advertisements in the Staten Islander of
September 15, 1852 refer to three steam ferry landings along the east shore: Tompkinsville Landing (1%
Landing) at the foot of Victory Boulevard, Stapleton Landing (2™ Landing) at the foot of Canal Street,
and Vanderbilt's Landing (3™ Landing) opposite Harrison Street (Leng and Davis 1930). In 1857, a
number of independent operators, including Tompkins-Staples and Cornelius Vanderbilt, combined to
form the Staten Island and New York Ferry Company, which provided service from 1%, 2™ and 3"
Landings to Whitehall Street (Leng and Davis 1930). In 1864, the ferries changed hands again, passing to
the Staten Island Railroad Company, and operating hourly from Vanderbilt's Landing (Leng and Davis
1930). Maps of the period show that the ferries shared the waterfront with other industrial and
commercial establishments, including hotels, coal and lumber dealer, a smelting company, and a rubber
manufactory (Walling 1859).

In the mid-nineteenth century, a number of lager beer breweries were established in Stapleton. In 1851,
six years after the nation's first lager brewery was built in Philadelphia, the Clifton Brewery went into
operation at Lynburst and Ditsen Streets, not far from Vanderbilt's Landing (McMillen 1969, Smith
1970). The Bechtel Brewery was built in 1853 near the intersection of the present Van Duzer and Broad
Streets , and the J.F. Wolf (Bischoff) Brewery, located nearby at Van Duzer and Young Streets, was in
operation by 1859 (Smith 1970, Walling 1859). Local beer gardens, restaurants, and hotels profited from
the presence of the breweries.

By 1859, Stapleton boasted at least six hotel s and "... scores of homes and such businesses as furniture,
hat and shoe stores, saddlery and harness makers, coal and lumber yards, and grocery and feed stores”
(Smith 1970, Walling 1859). Examination of the Walling (1859) and Beers (1874) maps reveais a
particularly dense concentration of commercial and residential structure along Bay Street between Union
Place on the north and the vicinity of Harrison Street on the south, located west of the proposed Stapleton
Rezoning project area. Many of these structures, interspersed with somewhat later nineteenth and early
twentieth century buildings, are still standing, forming a neighborhood that bears a distinct turn-of-the-
century Main Street character.
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In the early twenticth century, major construction had taken place along the Stapleton waterfront. The
1908 Borough of Richmond topographic sheet shows that the ferry terminal at Stapleton Landing had
been enlarged and a number of smaller pier structures and landfill bulkhead zones also appear at this time.

By 1928, landfill and construction in Stapleton had essentially reached its modern configuration. Several
large piers on piles extended outward from the bayward edge of landfilled area almost to the present-day
pierhead line. From the 1930s to the present, the area was underutilized and many structures were
allowed to deteriorate through neglect.

At the end of the 1920s, Stapleton was the proud hosts to the National Football League’s Staten Island
Stapletons. The Stapes had been a semi-pro team formed in 1915 who played exhibition games against
professional teams from the NFL and the predecessor to the American Football League. In 1929, the
Stapes joined the NFL and compiled a 14-22-9 record over four seasons before the team folded in 1933.
The Stapes played their games at Thompson’s Stadium, which was roughly located at Tompkins Avenue
and Broad Street, west of the project area.

33 Historic Waterfront Development

The New Stapleton Waterfront Plan presents an opportunity to study the development of the waterfront
on Staten Island because the extent of the area to be rezoned and redeveloped is located along the
borough’s northeast waterfront. Development of the Stapleton waterfront began in the early 19" century
and continued until the late 20 century with the construction of the United States Navy’s homeport
berthing pier for naval vessels returning from sea. This period of development covers an era of
considerable technological and economic change, a time of particular importance for understanding the
relationship between technological change and urban development. Past research on waterfront
development has mainly focused on Manhattan’s waterfront (Cantwell & diZirega Wall 2001:Ch.13),
though of late, attention has shifted to the development of the other borough’s waterfronts (Historical
Perspectives, Inc. and Raber Associates 2005).

3.3.1 Waterfront Construction Technology

Archeological research in New York City and other east coast cities has demonstrated the accumulative
nature of waterfront development in the urban environment. In order to access the significance of the
potential waterfront resources in the New Stapleton Waterfront study area, it is necessary briefly to
examine the information recovered from past archeological projects. If it can be demonstrated that these
past projects sampled all the types of resources for similar contexts and time periods as those associated
with this project, then cultural resources from the New Stapleton Waterfront project would be considered
insignificant because study of such resources would yield relatively little new knowledge. If, on the other
hand, it can be demonstrated that these past projects have made contributions to our knowledge of the past
but left unanswered questions, then the potential waterfront resources of the Stapleton area would be
considered as significant archaeological resources.

Landfill and waterfront development have been a primary research focus for archeological projects
undertaken in Manhattan since the 1980s. Excavations undertaken at the Assay Site uncovered the
remains of a wharf constructed of solid logs notched at the corners (LBA 1989:V-10). Construction of
this wharf dated to 1739/1740. Two cobb wharves, dating to the mid-18™ century, were uncovered during
excavation of the Telco Block in 1981 (Soil Systems, Inc. 1982). At 175 Water Street, archeologists
documented the presence of several eighteenth century wharves that were solid raft-like structures (Soil
Systems, Inc. 1981). Another cobb wharf was discovered at the Barclays Bank Site (LBA 1983). At the
Assay Site, archeologists discovered the remains of three cobb wharfs dating to the 1780s (LBA 1989:1V-
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31). At the Washington Street Urban Renewal Area, a cobb wharf dating to the late 18%/early 19"
centuries was encountered (LBA 1985a).

Analysis of the waterfront technologies employed in Manhattan and other east coast cities suggests that
only joinery techniques appeared to show variation in relation to the date of construction (LBA 1989:Ch.
V). It was suggested that this variation might be due to more to the size of the different wharves and the
lack of excavation information, rather than to real differences in construction techniques (LBA 1989:V-
24). Generally the location of the wharf also did not appear to be a factor in the type of construction
technique chosen. However, Massachusetts waterfront technologies tended to employ solid type wharves,
suggesting that there may have been some specific construction methods used by these craftsmen that are
not seen in other cities. It was not clear why such traditions would have emerged, but the ethnicity of the
craftsmen or local traditions may have played a role in the Massachusetts technological differentiation
(LBA 1989:V-24).

Waterfront building techniques did not appear to cluster by city or evolve uniformly with time. The
analysis of several east coast cities revealed that site specific circumstances played a role in the types of
wharves constructed. Such site specific circumstances would include the local water conditions (tides and
currents), the type of river bottom soils and the financial capabilitics of the wharf financier. Each city
appeared to adapt the pier and wharf technology specific to the local setting (LBA 1989:V-2;l Norman
1987: 104-105; Henn et al. 1985:12). Research with the technology of waterfront development at the
Assay Site has led archaeologists to suggest that wharves "should not be used to address non-site specific
research issues, given the factors which determine the configuration of the structures” (LBA 1989:V-24).
Specifically, it was recommended that future research should perhaps be concentrated on documenting the
joinery used in wharves because this particular feature may be more sensitive to the craftsmanship of a
structure than other variables that have been considered in archacological waterfront studies. The joinery
represents one of the major engineering components of a wharf, and is linked to the types of activities that
were planned to occur in relation to the wharf.

3.3.2 Landfilling the Waterfront

The process of filling the shoreline and expanding the size of Manhattan began in the 18" century and has
continued through the twentieth century. Numerous projects within Manhattan' have documented land
reclamation along both the shore of the East and Hudson Rivers and more recently, research with the
Brooklyn waterfront has also addressed the issue of landfilling techniques (Historical Perspectives, Inc.
and Raber Associates, 2005). Records of the Common Council also documented landfilling as it
occurred.

Basically, the landfilling process was rather simple, involving blocking out areas in the riverbed with
whatever material was available (including boulders, sunken boats, timber braces, etc.) and filling the
inside space with almost any material, including trash from nearby settlements, construction debris and
clean soil brought from natural deposits (Sapin 1985). The lots that were filled corresponded to the
location of planned city blocks, meaning that the empty spaces between the lots (i.e., the 'streets’) were
typically left open to the river and used as boat slips. Only after the next row of blocks located further out
into the river were filled were the slips themselves filled and converted to passable streets. New York
City was somewhat unique among American colonial cities in this regard insofar as boat slips were a far
more common sight than actual piers and wharves built out over the water (Huey 1984:24).

The construction of retaining walls for the sea lots was a challenging problem for colonial New Yorkers,
and a number of solutions were struck upon. The simplest and perhaps least stable method was simply to

! See the following sources for information pertaining to landfill investigated on previous archeological projects:
Huey 1984; LBA 1985a, 1989; Henn et al. 1985; Sapin 1985; Soil Systems, Inc. 1982, 1985; Geismar 1987

New York City Economic Development Corporation Page 18



The Louls Berger Group. Inc. Phase IA Cult urad Resource Assessment

New Stapleton Waterfront Plan, Staten idand, New York

erect a plank bulkhead holding back a deposit of earth and rubble. A more durable altemative was the
‘cobb wharf, which was essentially an immense framed box made of logs filled with cobble stones that
were placed on the river bottom. The top surface of the framed box, which remained above the water
level, was typically covered with earth to support city traffic. These cobb wharves served three purposes:
first, they were ground surface over which foot and cart traffic could move; second, they served as docks
against which boats tied up; and third, they served as retain walls along the edge of the landfilled sea lots.

Prior archaeological research projects were designed to develop a clear description of the technology
employed in the landfilling process since documentary sources did not provide such a description. Sapin
(1985:171) reports that the "observed alignments of the wharves and bulkheads as well as the stratigraphy
and ceramic content of the different landfill episodes supplemented the landfilling scenario developed [by
archeologists] using solely documentary sources.” Based on this prior research, landfilling and waterfront
construction techniques in Manhattan have been intensively researched and significant information is now
known. Although new wharves and piers have been found in the recent years in Manhattan (LBA 2000),
such discoveries have not been determined to represent significant archaeological resources as similar
characteristics in terms of the technical aspects of land creation and the types of fill used in the process of
landfilling can be identified in many of the discovered piers and wharves.

For the rest of New York City outside of Manhattan, little to no research has occurred with Staten Isiand
waterfront technology. Previous research in Brooklyn has also identified that the waterfront development
in that borough has not received attention. The research into the history of the Brooklyn Bridge Park
concluded that historic waterfront technology would be conmsidered as a significant archaeological
resource if encountered during the project’s implementation (Historical Perspectives, Inc. and Raber
Associates 2005:49-50).

Similarly, the historic development of the Stapleton waterfront has the potential to provide information on
the methods of expanding the Stapleton waterfront and to compare if such construction techniques were
similar to others observed in New York City of if they were adapted to fit the local conditions, as has
been seen in many prior examples. For the New Stapleton Waterfront project, information on the source
of landfilling soils is unknown due to the large size of Lot 110 stretching for almost 2500 feet along the
Stapleton waterfront. The large size of the lot precludes using the lot information in order to determine
the history of filling the lot as any reference to Lot 110 within the minutes of the Common Council would
likely not provide additional information on the exact location of the deposited material within the large
Lot 110. Therefore, although any pier or wharf identified by archaeological investigations would
represent a significant archaeological deposit, it would be impossible to determine the origin of the fill
soils surrounding such a deposit.

3.3.3  Potential waterfront archaeological resources

in the 18" and 19" centuries, the project area was for the most part located within New York Harbor (see
Figures 6 and 7). In the mid-19" century, three ferry piers serviced the east shore of Staten Island; two of
these piers were located within the project area: Stapleton Landing at the foot of Canal Street and
Vanderbilt’s Landing at the end of Harrison Street (Leng and Davis 1930). Analysis of an 1844 historic
map shows a previous ferry pier to be located at the foot of modern Dock Street, which is south of Canal
Street and the mid-19™ century location of the Staeleton Landing (Figure 8). This ferry pier may refer to
the ferry dock for Cornelius Vanderbilt’s early 19" century ferry that he operated from the Stapleton area
during the War of 1812 (Eberlein 1928).

Within the landfill soils brought to fill in the gaps within the cribbing or retaining walls, potential
archaeological resources may be encountered, but it would be impossible to identify the indicuduals
associated with such archaeological material as the source of the fill would be unknown. Although
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spectacular finds, such as sunken ships (Brouwer 1980), have been encountered in prior archaeological
work along Manhattan’s waterfront, these finds are exceptions to the norm of fill containing random
concentrations of ceramic, bone, glass, nails, pipes, etc., or the typical assemblage of historic
archaeological material.

Other potential archacological resources include the archaeological remains of the historic bulkhead along
the shore of Staten Island. The bulkhead would have been constructed of wooden timbers in the 18" and
19" centuries, while by the 20" century, concrete technology replaced wood bulkhead construction.
Potential historic bulkheads would be encountered up to depths of 20 to 25 feet below mean water. These
wooden bulkheads were constructed by placing logs together in squares and setting these squares in place
at the waterfront. The bottoms of these wooden squares were normally planked over and fill was placed
in side to help sink the squares to the river bottom. These wooden squares typically measured five to
eight feet on a side and about seven to eight feet deep. The wooden squares were then filled with debris,
including dredged silts form the river bottom, demolition debris or fill brought in from any location. The
top of the filled in wooden squares was composed of packed soils, timber or stone (Raber Associates
1984:46-51).

One last potential archaeological resource would be piers built in the 19" century along the Stapleton
waterfront. Research of historic documents and tax records in Staten Island has failed to provide any
information on the types of piers constructed within the project area, though inferences can be made from
research conducted with other 19" century piers in New York City. Early piers would have been
constructed using the block and bridge style, in use until the 1840s, while in the mid- to late-19" century,
piers would have been constructed by driving timber piles and placing a wooden dock on top of the piles
(Cantwell & diZirega Wall 2001). It is unknown what method of construction was used to build the piers
along the Stapleton waterfront, but it is likely that the early 19™ century piers were constructed using the
block and bridge style.

3.3.4 Historic waterfront archaeological potential

The potential exists to encounter 19™ century archaeological resources associated with development of the
Stapleton waterfront in two locations, both within the southern portion of Block 487, Lot 110. These two
places correspond to the eastern extent of the historic locations of ferry piers associated with the early
historic development of the Stapleton waterfront and the first maritime transportation systems from Staten
Island to Manhattan (Figures 9 and 9a). The two locations of the early ferry pier structures are both
placed within the Front Street streetbed. The New Stapleton Waterfront Plan will, as part of the Proposed
Action, realign Front Street to improve vehicle safety and provide a better relationship with the proposed
development and public areas on the Homeport Site. The design for the new Front Street includes two
moving lanes, two parking lanes, a bicycle lane, sidewalks, lighting, tree planting and other streetscape
elements. In addition, full sewer infrastructure would be established to address existing drainage
problems, and electrical, gas and water supply would be provided. The proposed utility work may affect
the potential archaeological resources dating to the early 19" century at these two locations.

Mid-19" century piers within Lot 110 may also be affected by the proposed rezoning of Lot 110. There
are four locations where mid-19® century piers may be located (see Figures 9 and 9a). All four locations
will be redeveloped under the New Stapleton Waterfront Plan. The northernmost location, the historic
Jocation of the 1874 Mulford wood, coal and lumber yard, covers two areas that will be redeveloped as
Parcels A and Bl, which will contain a 131,250-square-foot {(125-unit) residential development and a
60,000-square-foot restaurant/banquet hall facility with parking for 500 cars, respectively. The second
location, the historic location of an 1874 breakwater associated with the Mulford company, will be
redeveloped as part of Parcel Bl. The next historic pier location, the historic location of Stapleton
Landing and the 1874 2™ Landing, falls within the area of The Cove, which would be located between the
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extensions of Canal and Water Streets and calls for the removal of an existing collapsed relieving
platform, thereby exposing an approximately 42,000-square-foot area of open water at high tide. The
water area of the Cove would be bordered by public area that could include a boat house, kayak launch
and café with outdoor dining which would belp to activate the open space. The edges of this area would
be formed using gabion walls and stepped concrete slabs, with both upland plantings and varied wetland
environments to promote a broad range of aquatic flora and fauna. The fourth and last area of potential to
encounter mid-19® century historic piers represents the 1874 location of the New York Coast and
Wrecking Company and falls within the limits of Parcel BS, expected to contain a 105,000-square-foot
(100-unit) residential development with 120 parking spaces.

Previously excavated soil borings indicate that any potential archaeological resources are expected to be
located within 0-30 feet below the ground surface. The potential redevelopment of Block 487, Lot 110 as
described above will impact the six total locations for historic piers. The archaeological potential of the
pier locations is considered as high and any in situ piers would be considered eligible for listing on the
National Register of Historic Places under criteria D. Prior to any construction work, NYCEDC will
coordinate with NYC LPC for further archaeological oversight to ensure adherence with CEQR and the
Landmarks Preservation Commission Guidelines for Archaeological Work in New York City (April
2002).

34 Previous Cultural Resource Surveys

Several cultural resource studies have been conducted within the project area and the near vicinity. The
Stapleton area was the subject of extensive cultural resource studies in the 1970s through 1980s (Kardas
and Larrabee 1977; LBA 1983, 1985b, 1985¢c, 1985d; Louis Berger and Associates & Lockwood, Kessler
and Bartlett, Inc. 1990). These studies focused on a corridor extending from the Stapleton area south to
Fort Wadsworth, for the purposes of identifying a location for a U.S. Navy Homeport, currently located
within the Stapleton Waterfront rezoning project area. These studies determined that the archaeological
potential of the Homeport portion of the present project was non-existant (LBA 1983). One additional
study has been conducted southwest of the project area (Clover Archaeological Services, Inc. 1990).
Although the potential existed to find archaeological resources within this project’s study area (the Bayley
Seton Hospital, on the border of Stapleton and Clifton to the south), no archaeological resources were
recovered by the subsurface testing program.
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4.0  Individual Documentary Studies

As a function of the DEIS for the proposed New Stapleton Waterfront rezoning, an assessment for
archaeological resources was undertaken for each lot selected by LPC from the original list of 21 lots
within the rezoning. In accordance with CEQR guidelines, the initial task established the APE for
archaeological resources that may be affected by the various components of the proposed action. The
APE, defined by LPC’s first-level review, includes one or more lots on a total of 11 non-contiguous city
blocks. This critical first task indicated that the proposed rezoning may impact numerous lots within the
established archaeological APE. A Documentary Study was undertaken for the following blocks and lots
as part of the rezoning action:

Block 487, Lot 110

Block 489, Lot 25

Block 490, Lots 24 and 26
Block 491, Lot 29

Block 492, Lot 31

Block 493, Lot 12

Block 494, Lot 18, 19, 21 and 24

The documentary study concluded that all of the lots were either too disturbed by subsequent
development in the twentieth century or the lots lacked historic archaeological deposits predating the
introduction of municipal utilities.

4.1.  Block 487, Lot 110

Block 487, Lot 110 is bound by Hannah and Vanderbilt streets, the U.S. Pierhead Line and Front Street.
It was sold to the City of New York by the United States of America in 1995. The current structure, the
U.S. Navy Homeport pier, was built in 1990 and has an address of 455 Front Street.

Lot History

This block and lot, for the most part, did not exist during the nineteenth century as this location was
situated within the Bay of New York (see Figures 6 and 7). Although, the 1847 Root Survey shows the
presence of a Water Street running north to south along the waterfront with about eighty lots of varying
size (Figure 10), the 1852 Root Survey does not show this particular street within Lot 110 (Figure 11).
Additionally, the 1852 lot division map does not depict any streets within Lot 110. However, a Ferry
Dock and Landing existed at the foot of Front Street on the Bay of New York, at the western edge of
modern Lot 110. On the 1874 Beers Atlas (Figure 12), this dock was identified as the Stapleton Landing
and the 2" Landing. On the northern corner of Canal and Front streets were four structures of unknown
function/occupation. The 1874 Beers map depicts the most development within Lot 110, with the
majority of the structures functioning as industrial or transportation related operations. The southernmost
development is a pier and wharf for the N.Y Coast Wrecking Co., located on the waterfront opposite
Harrison Street. To the north, opposite Canal Street was the aforementioned Stapleton Landing and 2™
Landing. Also at the corner of Canal and Front sireets was a one story structure that served as the offices
of Armstrong and Frost. At the northern end of Lot 110, between Clinton and Grant Streets, was property
belonging to S.L. Mulford & Co. Saw & Planning Mill. This mill complex consisted of tiree large
rectangular structures and four smaller structures protected from the harbor by a breakwater.

In 1885 (Figure 13), the area encompassed by modern Block 487 was situated primarily within the Bay of
New York. The southern portion of Lot 110 was mainly within the Bay of New York while at the Corner
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of Front and Thompson street was a lumber storage structure associated with the O.C. Eddy and Sons
yard, located to the west of Lot 110 (Sanborn 1885).

North of the O.C. Eddy and Sons yard, at the foot of Canal Street, was the Stapleton or 2" Landing
(Figure 14). At the northeast comner of Canal and Front Streets was a three story Bar and Club House
with an address of 718 Canal Street. Just east of this bar, at 716 and 717 Canal Street, was a two story
structure with a telegraph store with a one-story structure in the rear and a tobacconist. The Ocean Hotel,
a two story structure, was located at 715 Canal Street with two associated one-story structures in the rear
and a two story bar at 714 Canal Street. At 713 Canal Street was the Luger Beer Garden, which was an
open area with a wooden platform in the rear. At 712 Canal Street was a one story shed and at the end of
the street facing east was the gateway to the ferry. Beyond the gate were a toll house and a one story
structure used as a Passenger Waiting Room. On the south side of the street, at 701 Canal Street, was a
large two story shed and at 702 Canal Street, was a two story vacant structure (indicated as an “old”
structure) with a two story structure associated in the rear. Outside of the area at Thompson, Canal and
Front streets, the balance of Lot 110 remained located off shore in 1885.

By 1898, municipal water lines had been installed throughout modern Lot 110 (NYC DEP 2005). The
end of the nineteenth century also saw an expansion of the piers and industry along the waterfront (Figure
15). Additional information on the changing nature of the waterfront comes from the 1898 Sanborn
(Figure 16). South of Dock Street, on the Bay of New York, was a large warchouse belonging to
Chapman Derrick & Wrecking Co. This appears as historic lot 302 and in the southeast corner was a one
story structure. Along the northern edge of the lot was a large rectangular two story structure with a
smaller one story structure to the west (located outside modern Lot 110). The largest structure on the lot
was the warehouse, which was a two story structure along the eastern edge with an associated one story
shed used for wood storage. The New York Bay was to the south of this lot and a vacant historic lot 852
was to the north. But according to the Robinson Atlas from 1898 (see Figure 15) this lot was occupied by
the Atlantic Marine Insurance Co.

The area between Broad and Thompson streets was bisected by the Staten Island Rapid Transit Rail Road.
East of the railroad tracks were two companies; the Benjamin J. Brown Coal & Wood Yard and the Eddy
Bros. Lumber, Lime, and Cement Yard. On the northern side of Dock Street was a one story structure
used as an engine/ kindling storage room. A large trestle fed in to the property from the east and was
adjacent to a large rectangular, unidentified one story structure along the northern edge of the Brown
property. North of the Benjamin J. Brown Coal & Wood Yard was the eastemn end of the Eddy Bros
Lumber Lime and Cement Yard.

Moving northward to the location of the Stapleton Landing, on the southern side of Canal Street, a
warehouse and three oil tanks belonging to the Lincoln Manufacturing Co had now replaced the shed and
vacant buildings present here in 1885 (Figure 17). A dock and a long, narrow one story structure
extended out onto the Bay from the warehouse. On the northeast comer of Canal and Front Streets, 1901
Canal Street, stood a three story structure that was designated as a store. The store had a one story
associated structure in the rear and another structure in the northeast corner of the lot. 1902 Canal Street
was the home of the Ocean Yacht Club. This structure also had two one story structures in the rear but it
is not clear whether they are associated or not. At 1903 and 1904 Canal Street each contained two story,
structures designated as Hotels. The Hotels had three associated one story structures in the rear, as well
as two one story structures that may have been unrelated. A T-shaped section of the pier extended out
into the Bay with a large one story wood frame structure that housed the Staten Island Yacht Club with a
smaller unidentified one story to the south. To the north of this landing, opposite modern Prospect Street,
was a section of the Bay that the Staten Island Feed Co. held rights to and a large vacant dock.
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Further north, at the end of Front Street and north of Wave Street was a massive Lumber and Coal Yard
on the Bay (Figure 18). The James Thompson and Sons Lumber Yard had at least five large wood frame
structures for storage of Lumber Pilings just east of the Staten Island Rapid Transit Rail Road tracks. On
the southern edge of the property was a two story structure used for cement production, on the eastern
edge were two one story structures; one used for the storage of lime and the other was illegible. Another
small illegible structure was along this edge just north of a lumber pile. To the north of these structures
was a two story Ice House belonging to the Betchel Brewery. West of this was a large Coal Yard with
two one story wood framed structures belonging to GG. Barth. A two story shed with an associated one
story wood framed building was north of the coal yard with a one and a half story stable to the west.

Continuing north along the Bay of New York was a large plot of land with four structures belonging to
Eva Betchel (Figure 19; see also Figure 15). Onthe Bay between Clinton and Grant Streets was another
massive Lumber Yard belonging to Ichabod T. Williams. This Yard consisted of approximately twenty
nine wood frame structures which varied in size. They were used for storage of lumber and a branch of
the Staten Island Rapid Transit Rail Road ran into the yard and along a dock extending into the Bay. Two
one story structures with two associated wood frame buildings ran along the tracks in the northwest
corner. Further north was a seemingly vacant dock belonging to the heirs of John Martino (Robinson
1898).

By 1917 the Chapman Derrick & Wrecking company had expanded (Figure 20). It was now known as
Merritt & Chapman Derrick Wrecking Co. with many structures around its facility. The northern edge of
the lot contained a two story structure which was used as a dwelling and for storage and had an associated
two story structure used for steam fitting. A large structure in the middle of the lot was the main building
and served many functions. Among them were a one story structures that housed a Blacksmith and
Carpenter, a two story Machine Shop and Storage Facility with an office, and a one story unidentified
wood frame structure. The eastern edge of this lot consisted of a platform on piles with two docks on
piles extended out into the Bay. North of the lot was vacant historic lot 496 and out on a pier in the Bay
was the Staten Island Yacht Club. This structure was long and rectangular and varied between one and
two stories.

At the corner of Dock Street, east of the Staten Island Rapid Transit Rail Road tracks, was the Richmond
Ice Co. On the east of the lot was a one story wood frame structure that housed wagons with an
associated one story structure. On the northern edge of the lot was an elevated trestle which fed into large
sheds from the east and rested on a dock on piles. A small one story wood shed was in the northeast
corner.

At the southeast corner of Canal and Front streets was the one-story Jaburg Brothers wood working shop
with an attached warehouse (Figure 21). At the foot of Canal Street was a pier on piles belonging to R.
Martens & Co. By this time the section of the Bay between Canal and Wave Streets, east of Front Street
had been filled in and bulkheads were installed. At Prospect Street a pier on pilings extended out into the
Bay and had four structures which varied from one to three stories and were used for storage or
unidentified.

At Wave Street, James Thompson & Sons still occupied the lot to the north which had one and two story
structures used as cement or lime sheds. D.H. Hawkins Coal Co. shared this lot with a large one story
coal shed. a small one story wood shed, and other unidentified one story structures. Historic lot 488 was
to the north and was the property of L. T. Williams & Sons Edgewater Saw Mill and Lumber Yards, a
sprawling facility extending northward to Grant Street. The majority of the lot consisted of about
seventeen wood frame structures for storage of lumber pilings. A branch of the Staten Island Rapid
Transit Rail Road ran through the yard out to a lumber dock on piles. The northern section of the lot was
the mill complex. On the western edge of the complex were a large one story lumber shed and a large one
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story structure with an elevator that was built in 1909. An unidentified one story structure connected this
with the Main Mill building. The Main Mill was along the northern edge of the lot and was a two story
structure with about six associated one story structures. To the southeast of the main mill was a large
wooden frame log yard with a large one story lumber shed to the south.

In 1937, Block 487 Lot 110 matched the modern configuration and was completely vacant (Figure 22). A
large portion of it was designated as the New York Foreign Trade Zone No, 1. There were many large
piers on the Bay at this time with a new street, Murray Hulbert Avenue, granting access to them. Piers 7-
10 were the City of New York Municipal Piers; 7 and 8 were used for United States Works Progress
Administration Storage; 9 and 10 were leased to Thaten Terminals Inc. Piers 11-14 were associated with
the New York Foreign Trade Zone. Pier 17 belonged to the Department of Plants and Structures and was
used for storage.

In 1951 modern lot 110 was occupied by the United States Government and the majority was vacant
except for one structure at the corner of Canal and Front Streets (Figure 23). A United States Customs
Office was at the corner of Canal and Front Streets. In the rear, to the north was the American-Frascati
Tobacco Auctioning building. On the southern side of Canal Street was a small two story office with a
one story associated structure. Branches of the B&O Rail Road ran into piers 12 and 13. All of the piers
appear to have been Municipal Piers of the City of New York by this time.

Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 487, Lot 110 contained industrial buildings associated with the shipping and
transportation industries and a scattering of commercial structures (hotels, breweries, bars, tobacconists,
etc.). Lot 110 was tied into the municipal water and sewer supply by 1898. Although a few structures
functioned as residences, these structures were built after the installation of municipal utility services.
Therefore, this lot lacks archaeological sensitivity for historic period residential archaeological resources.

4.2, Block 489, Lot 25

Block 489 is bounded by Wave and Sands Streets and Front and Bay Streets (see Figure 2). Lot 25 is
located in the eastern half of the block, with frontage on Wave, Sands, and Front Streets. The northeast
corner of the lot measures 150 feet along Front Street and 133.98 feet along Wave Street. The southeast
comer measures 140.84 feet along Sands Street and the western line of the lot abuts a small irregularly
shaped lot and measures 150.69. Currently there is a structure on the lot belonging to H NAD Reality
Association. This structure was built in 1959 with an address of 308 Front Street.

Lot History

The Root Survey of 1847 showed a very different lot configuration than that the current design (see
Figure 10). Water Street was located on the waterfront to the east of Front Street. There was a small
pyramid shaped block of seven vacant lots varying in size between Front and Water streets. Block 489,
Lot 25 was situated west of this block and encompassed approximately ten irregularly sized lots. These
ten lots all measured 25 feet in width but varied in length. On the north side of Wave Street was a
waterway owned by Cornelius Vanderbilt. On the Root Map of 1852 (see Figure 11), Block 489 Lot 25
was divided into historic lots 190, 191, 192, 193, 194, 195, 196, 229 and 230 and portions of historic lots
188 and 197. These lots measured 75 feet in length and 25 in width and were undeveloped in the mid-
nineteenth century.

The 1874 Beers (Figure 24) and the 1898 Robinson Atlas (Figure 25) both indicate the project area was
undeveloped at the end of the nineteenth century. The 1885 Sanborn did not record Block 489. George
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FIGURE 22: 1937 Map of the Majority
of Modern Block 487, Lot 110
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FIGURE 23: 1951 Map of the Stapleton
Waterfront Redevelopment Project Area
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Bliss owned the property at the end of the nineteenth century, having purchased it in 1892 (Liber 224,
page 442). The lot consisted of two large unnumbered lots running north and south measuring 100 feet in
length and 75 feet in width and parts of two smaller lots to the west. These lots measured 75 feet in
length and 25 feet in width with the lot numbers 501 and 514. The 1898 Sanborn map of Block 489, Lot
25 (see Figure 18) indicated that municipal water lines had been installed on Wave Street by this time.

The 1917 Sanborn and Tax map (Figure 26) show no structures within Lot 25, but the lots had been
renumbered to 25-37, reflecting the modern configuration. In 1925 the “Map of Property of Thomas and
Henry Williams at Stapleton” shows only seven lots, 21-27, all without structures. The western lines of
these lots are adjacent to lots belonging to Staten Island Rapid Transit. The Williams’ had owned this
property since 1913 and sold it in 1925 to Mayer Rosenholz and George Cornell (Liber 599, page 103).
The 1937 Sanborn map shows there are six unnumbered lot divisions with still no structures on the
properties.

The 1951 Sanborn (Figure 27) shows five unnumbered lot divisions. The lot was divided into a northern,
a southern and a western lot (without structures). The southern was then divided again into three lots, all
lacking structures. The northern lot had two one-story structures with frontage on Wave Street. These
structures are stores with the larger having another one story structure connected in the rear. The
remainder of the northern lot was utilized for parking. Water Records from the Department of
Environmental Protection state that an M. Rosenholz still owned the property in 1958.

B s

tea rantor S AR S _Grantee e
7-18-199 H&P Realty lcyn Inc.
10-06-1987 Wong Corporation H&P Realty
3-31-1987 Roger Showalter Wong Corporation

7-02-1986 Roger Showalter, Anthony Anastasio, | Roger Showalter
Felix Nadar, 308 Front Street

Partnership
12-24-1985 Raymond Longobardi Roger Showalter, Anthony Anastasio, Felix Nadar, 308
Front Street Partnership
12-24-1985 John Taft Raymond Longobardi
9-28-1979 Rosewood Realty Co. John Taft
1-12-1978 Freemore Holding Corp. Rosewood Realty Co.
1-25-1936 Mayer and Deborah Rosenholz State of New York
5-07-1926” George F. and Annie M. Cornell Mayer and Deborah Rosenholz

5-14-1925 Thomas, Emma W., Henry K.S., and | George F. Cornell and Mayer Rosenholz
Mildred A. Williams
3-17-1913 Reeve  Schley (William  Schley | Henry K.S. and Thomas Williams

deceased)
12-09-1901 Anais Bliss (Wife of George Bliss) William Schley
6-1892 Gertrude S. Aspell George Bliss

Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 489, Lot 25 saw development only in the mid-twentieth century when two stores were
constructed by 1951. This lot was tied into municipal utilities by the 1890s. The lack of residential
structures and development predating the introduction of city utilities indicates this lot does not possess
archaeological sensitivity for historic period residential archaeological resources.

% Notice of Affidavit
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The Louls Berger Group. Inc.

4.3. Block 490, Lot 24

Block 490 is bounded by Sands and Prospect Streets and Front and Bay Streets. Lot 24 is 111.66 feet
west from the southwest corner of Sands and Front Street. It is an irregular shaped lot; 40 feet wide and
75.15 feet in length. The current owner is Felix Nodar and there are no existing structures.

Lot History

According to the 1847 survey (see Figure 10), the area of curent Lot 24 consisted of about two
unnumbered lots that were 25 feet wide and 75 long with no structures (Root 1847). In 1852 (see Figure
11), Lot 24 was comprised of historic lots 161 and 160 with the same configuration as the previous
survey. In 1885, Historic Lot 161 was sold to Lewis 5. Wood by the Executors of Victor DeLuanay’s
Estate, Charles and Frederick Couderl (Liber 160, page 159). The 1898 Sanborn Map (see Figure 17)
shows the lots were still vacant but the block numbers had changed to 475 and 476 and municipal water
lines had been installed on Prospect Street; a year later Sarah L. Wood sold this lot to Bernard Brady
{Liber 273, page 200).

By 1917 (see Figure 26), Brady Coal and Ice, of Bayonne New Jersey, occupied the whole eastern end of
Block 490. There was a large stable in the northeast corner which would have encompassed modern lots
24 and 26. In the southeast corner of Block 490, extending northward was a large, one story hay shed and
a one story structure with frontage on Prospect Street. Another one story shed lie in the middle of the lot.
Beginning in 1936 there were major lot divisions over an almost forty year period.

By 1937, modern Lot 24 was vacant; this portion of Block 490 only had two large vacant structures and a
possible grain elevator. This property remained under the ownership of the Brady’s (Sanborn, 1937). In
1947 Patrick Brady, a Trustee, sold modern Lot 24 to Charles F. McAteer Jr. and John P. McAteer (Liber
183, page 62). In 1951 this lot was vacant but the rest of the block had commercial structures. This
property remained in the possession of the McAteer family until 1957 when it was sold to Michael
Caracappa (Liber 1650, page 350).

Date Grantor Grantee Note
3-17-2003 Front Street LLC. Felix and Purification Nodar
2-24-2000 United States of America and the | Front Street LLC.

Secretary of the Navy
7-05-1991 Michael Caracappa

USA Naval Facilities Engineering
Command

6-18-1964 Charles F. McAteer Sr.,, Charles F. | Michael Caracappa

McAteer Jr., John P, McAteer
4-25-1957 Charles F. McAieer Jr., John P. McAteer Charles F. McAteer Sr., Charles F.
McAteer Jr., John P. McAteer
Charles F. McAteer, and John
Patrick McAteer

John P. McAteer

Charles F. McAteer Jr.,, John P.
McAteer

4-01-1952 John Patrick Mc Ateer

12-01-1947 | Charles J. McAteer Jr.
2-03-1947 Patrick Brady (Trustee)

9-26-1935 Augustine B. Casey (Referee)

Patrick Brady (Trustee)

of Victor DeLuanay’s Estate)

11-15-1930 | Consumer Coal and Ice Brady Coal and Ice Inc.
11-11-1930 | Consumer Coal and Ice Brady Coal and Ice Inc.
8-19-1899 Bernard and Annie Brady Consumer Coal and Ice Inc, Former lot 161
1-17-1899 Sarah L. Wood Bernard Brady Former lot 161
6-11-1885 Frederic and Charles Couderl (Executors | Lewis S. Wood Former lot 161
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Summary and Conglugions

The area of Block 490, Lot 24 saw development only at the beginning of the twentieth century with the
construction of stables and haybarns for Brady Coal and Ice. This lot was tied into municipal utilities by
the 1890s. No residential structures were ever constructed within this lot. The lack of residential
structures and development predating the introduction of city utilities indicates this lot does not possess
archaeological sensitivity for historic period residential archaeological resources.

4.4. Block 490, Lot 26

Block 490 is bounded by Sands, Prospect, Front and Bay streets. Lot 26 is an iregular shaped lot at the
northeast corner of Sands and Front Streets. The northern line along Sands Street measures 96.66 feet
while the southern line, which abuts lot 37, measures 100 feet. The eastern line along Front Street
measures 84 feet and the western line abutting lot 45 measures 75.15 feet. It is currently owned by
Unique Electric Inc. and has a Sands Street address with one structure constructed by 1951.

Lot History

The 1847 survey (see Figure 10) shows Wave Street as the easternmost street along the water’s edge.
Sixteen unnumbered, vacant lots lay between Water Street and Front Street, which was just west of Lot
26. Lot 26 was, approximately, three whole unmimbered lots and sections of four other unnumbered lots
with no structures (Root 1847). In 1852 (see Figure 11}, Lot 26 was comprised of lots 157, 158, 159, and
231 and had no structures. In 1898 (see Figure 15), the property still lacked structures but the lot numbers
had changed to 481, 482, 483 and part of 477. This map also showed municipal water lines had been
instalied on Prospect Street.

By 1910, Brady Coal and Ice owned former lot 159 and on the 1917 Sanborn Map (see Figure 26} a large
stable, owned by Brady Bros., was at the northeast corner (modern lot 26) and extended into modern lot
24. The cone story structure that was used for hay storage in the southeast comer of the block also
extended into this modern lot 26. In 1930 Brady Coal and Ice purchased former lots 157, 158, and 231
(Liber 708, page 370; Liber 710, page 360; Liber 712, page 79).

The 1937 Sanborn Map indicates, however, there were no functioning structures on the whole block.
There were two large vacant structures varying between one and two stories with what seemed to be an
open grain elevator in the middle of the block. By 1951 (see Figure 27), there was a small one story
office structure in the southeast corner of modern lot 26 with a one story lumber shed beside another one
story shed in the northeast corner.

Date Grantor ‘Grantee . Note

10-23-2001 Salvatore Russo Unique Electric Inc.

2-08-2000 Anne and Bernard Manzo Salvatore Russo

2-14-1979 McAteer Realty Corp. Thomas and Joanne Manzo

3-22-1978 John P. McAtcer Sr.,, John P. | Charles F. McAteer Jr., John P.
McAteer Jr. McAteer

5-10-1973 Charles F. McAtecer Jr,, John P. | Charles F. McAteer Jr., John P.
McAteer McAteer

7-31-1972 Charles F. McAteer Jr., John P. | JosephJ. Marino
McAteer

6-04-1972 Block 490 Corp. Charles F. McAteer Sr., Charles F.

McAteer Ir., John P. McAteer
12-01-1967 Charles F. McAteer Sr., Charles F. | Block 490 Corp
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‘Date Grantor Grantee _ | Note
McAteer Ir., John P. McAteer
4-25-1957 John P. McAteer, Charles F. | Charles F. McAteer Sr., Charles F.
McAteer Jr. McAteer Jr.,, John P. McAteer
4-01-1957 John Patrick McAteer Charles F. McAteer , John Patrick
McAteer
12-01-1947 Charles F. McAteer Jr. John P. McAteer
9-26-1935 Augustine B. Casey (Referee) Patrick Brady (Trustee)
11-03-1930 LuLu Keppler Brady Coal and Ice Former lot 157
11-14-1930 Eva Betchel Brady Coal and Ice Former lot 231
11-11-1930 Anna H.C. Kenney Brady Coal and Ice Former lot 158
8-25-1910 Bernard and Annie Brady Brady Coal and Ice Former lot 159
1-15-1909 Michael O. Driscoil Bernard Brady Former lot 159
3-22-1899 Commptroller of the State of New | Bernard Brady
York

Summary and Conclusions

The arca of Block 490, Lot 26 saw development only at the beginning of the twentieth century with the
construction of a stable, hayshed and grain elevator for Brady Coal and Ice. This lot was tied into
municipal utilities by the 1890s. No residential structures were ever constructed within this lot. The lack
of residential structures and development predating the introduction of city utilities indicates this lot does
not possess archaeological sensitivity for historic period residential archaeological resources.

4.5, Block 491, Lot 29

Block 491 is irregularly shaped, bounded by Prospect Street to the north, Block 492 to the south, Bay
Street to the west and Front Street on the east. Lot 29 has frontage on Prospect Street and extends into
Block 492 on the south. It is a large rectangular lot measuring 400.25x50 feet. It is bounded in the north
by Prospect Street, in the south by Block 492, Lot 31, in the east by Lots 32, 37, 41, 42, 46, and 29 in
Block 492 and in the west by Block 491, Lot 11, Cross Street and Lots 12 and 45 in Block 492. It is
perpendicular to Cross Street which bisects the western portion of Blocks 491 and 492. Lot 29 is
currently owned by Angelo Tupone with an address of 14 Prospect Street. The existing structure was
built in 1931.

Lot History

The 1847 (see Figure 10) George Root Survey shows this lot being bisected by a waterway, owned by the
Vanderbilt’s, which extended from the water’s edge to Bay Street. Water Street was the easternmost
street with Front Street parallel and to the west. This survey depicts sixteen unnumbered lots varying in
size between Water and Front streets, and Cross Street ran perpendicular from Bay Street to Water Street.
Essentially, current Lot 29 consisted of 6 unnumbered, vacant lots of varying sizes, part of the New York
Bay represented by Vanderbilt’s waterway, and a portion of Cross Street.

In 1852 (sece Figure 11), Lot 29 was split into lots 96, 98, 125, 126, 309, 310, and two unnumbered lots.
Cross Street intersected Front Street, which was the eastern most street situated at the water’s edge.
Beach Street was renamed Water Street now, which was south and parallel to Cross Street. The width of
the historic lots within modern Lot 29 was 25 feet, but the lengths varied, and all of the historic lots
lacked structures. The 1874 Beers Atlas (see Figure 24} also showed no structures, but there was a
different street configuration. Modern Block 491 was intersected by a street called Vanderbilt Street and
Cross Street was renamed Union Place. The 1885 Sanborn map shows the same street configuration
without structures. Block 491 was labeled as “Bottom Lands™; which implies it was still marsh or swamp
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lands and unfilled or undeveloped at this time (see Figure 14).

By 1898 (see Figures 16 and 24), modern Lot 29 extended south from Prospect Street, and crossed over
Vanderbilt Place (originally Vanderbilt Street) and Cross Street (formerly Union Street). It was
comprised of lots 377, 378, 438, 439, and 469. Brady Bros. Coal, Wood, Flour, & Feed occupied the
majority of Lot 29 at this time and municipal water lines had been installed by now. The Brady Bros
headquarters were in the Bergen Point section of Bayonne, New Jerscy and said to have been the largest
coal company in Bayonne (Martin, 2004). Lot 438 had a one story structure with frontage on Prospect
Street that opened into another long, narrow one story structure designated as the Feed Room. Lot 439
ran parallel to this and was vacant. The Feed Room opened into a smaller two story feed room with a
drive or passageway to the east. Running south along the western edge of the lot were Coal Pockets.
South of this lot there was a one story stable with a basement. A branch of the Staten Island Rapid
Transit Railroad ran into the complex for delivery and distribution of coal.

The 1917 Sanborn map (see Figure 26) shows Brady Bros. Coal, Wood, Flour, & Fecd as a long, narrow
one story rectangular structure at 14 Prospect Street. This building served as the office with the flour and
feed in the rear. To the south of this structure, in the western half of the lot, was a large two story coal
shed a smaller one story shed to the east. A large coal trestle had been built by this time along the
western edge of the lot. A year later, in 1918, are the earliest records of sewer installation on the adjacent
streetbeds.

By 1937 (Sanborn 1937), this property was owned by Brady Coal & Ice Co. Inc. There is a smaller office
structure at the northern end of the lot with a small wood frame structure adjacent. A five car private
garage is in the rear with an unidentifiable structure associated. The remainder of the lot was used as a
coal yard with a small one story structure in the southeastern corner of the lot, identified as a “Loader”
building. In 1951 (see Figure 25), Anton Persson owned the property at 14 Prospect Street. A one story
office building remained with the wood frame structure on its castern side. A structure which housed
machinery or was used for mamufacturing was now behind it, but the private garage was no longer
present. There are also three new one story striuctures on the eastern edge of the lot. Two of the
structures are small and unidentified and the other appears to be a large storage facility. The same
“Loader” structure remains in the southeastern comer of the lot.

Date Granter ' Grantee
4-27-1990 Angelo and Albert Tupone Angelo Tupone
12-31-1980 | Laura A. Fieramosca Angelo and Albert Tupone
8-09-1973 Communi ty National Bank & Trust Co. NY Laura A. Fieramosca
9.22-1967 Laura A. Fieramosca, Crossocean Container | Lease
Corp.
6-30-1967 | Laura A. Fieramosca, Community Naticnal Bank & Trust Co. of
Richmond
9-30-1963 T&G Realty Laura A. Fieramosca

7-10-1962 Hazel Schenke, Eleanor Griffin, Rose Persson | T&G Realty
5-07-1962 Hazel Schenke, Eleanor Griffin, Rose Persson, | Contract

Taft Realty
3-24-1938 Port Richmond Co Op Savings & Loan Anton H. Persson
2-08-1938 Joseph Streeble (Referee) Port Richmond Co Op Savings & Loan
3-18-1931° Consumer Coal & Ice Brady Coal & Ice
3-08-1926 Cornelius Scott {Executor) Consumer Coal & lce
4-15-1903 Nathan L. Miller Cornelius Van Schoyk

3 Asset of lease
* Former lots 96,98,125,126
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Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 491, Lot 29 saw development at the end of the nineteenth century with the appearance
of Brady Bros. Coal, Wood, Flour, & Feed. This lot was tied into municipal utilities by 1918. No
residential structures were ever constructed within this lot. The lack of residential structures and the
strictly commercial use of the lot indicates this lot does not possess archaeological sensitivity for historic
period residential archaeological resources.

4.6.  Block 492, Lot 31

Block 492 is irregularly shaped as Block 491 intrudes into the northern portion of this block. Block 492
is bounded by Block 491 and Cross Street on the north, Front Street on the east, Water Street on the south
and Bay Street on the west. Lot 31 is a large rectangular lot on the southeast corner of Block 492
(intersection of Front and Water streets). The lot is currently about 180 feet in width and 75 feet in
length. Lot 31 is owned by the United States of America; the existing structure was built in 1991 and has
an address of | Water Street.

Lot History

In 1847 (see Figure 10), Lot 31 was comprised of approximately seven unnumbered, vacant lots. These
lots were 25 feet wide and 75 feet long, Water Street was the easternmost street, parallel to Front Street,
and a block of sixteen unnumbered, vacant lots separated the two streets. Beach Street (modern Water
Street) formed the southern boundary to modern Block 492 (Root 1847). In 1852 (see Figure 11), Lot 31
was divided into seven historic lots: 90, 91, 92, 97, 99, 101, and 236. These lots were also 75 feet in
length and 25 feet in width with no structures. At this time, Cross Street intersected with Front Street.
The 1874 Beers Atlas (see Figure 24) showed the same information, except Cross Street was called Union
Place.

By 1885 (see Figure 14), there were two three story dwellings (1816 and 1817 Water Street) with a one
story shed in the rear (1816 2 Water Street) of Lot 31. The ownership of the southeastern corner was
transferred from Victor Deluanay to two different parties; John Bardes and William Robinson (Liber
160, page 163; Liber 169, page 375). By the late 1880s, municipal sewer and water lines had been
installed within Water Street. Sewer lines would not be installed on the adjacent streetbeds, however,
until 1908.

By 1898 (see Figure 17), there was a dramatic increase in development on this lot (Sanborn 1898). Lot
31 consisted of lots 365, 366, 367, 368, 380, 381, and 382 and Cross Street cut through Block 492 to the
north of modern Lot 31. Lot 365 had a two and a half story saloon with frontage on the northern side of
Water Street. The saloon had an attached one story structure in the rear with a two story structure
adjacent and a small yard. There were also two one story structures in the northeast and northwest
corners of historic lot 365. Lots 366, 367, and 368 had a large three story structure comprised of three
dwellings. These three lots also had one story dwellings along their northern edges; lot 366 had a stable,
and lots 367 and 368 had unidentified structures. Lot 380 had two dwellings of two stories each in the
southeast and southwest corners. Lot 381 had a one story structure which accommodated a plumbing
business with frontage on Front Street and a one story stable in the rear. There was also a one story
commercial structure on this lot. Lot 382 had a two story stable in the northwest corner, a one story
structure along the northern edge, and a one story structure in the northeast corner. Municipal water lines
were present within Water and Cross streets.

By 1917 (see Figure 26), there were only four lot divisions: 31, 34, 36, and 40 (Tax Map 1917). Former
lot 34 had a two story dwelling in the southeast comer with two associated one story buildings. Two
adjacent one story structures with front yard space are west and further west is another one story structure.
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In the southwest corner there was a two story dwelling. Former lot 31 had a one story automobile garage
in the northeast corner and a one story structure in the southwest corner. Former lot 36 contained a three
story dwelling and a three story tenement with an associated one story structure in the rear. The northern
edge of this lot has two one story sheds and a narrow, rectangular unidentified one story structure. The
two and a half story saloon with the two story adjacent structure was still present. However, there were
now two one story structures associated with the saloon, with the same unidentified one story structure in
the northeast corner.

By 1937 Cornelius J. O'Brien had amassed most of the property of current lot 31 (Liber 656, pages 366,
368; Liber 731, page 585). The Sanborn Map from this year shows a two story dwelling in the southeast
corner of current lot 31 with the address 1 Water Street. The dwelling still had two one story structures
associated with it; one in the rear and the other just west of it. But now there were side and back yards.
The southwestern corner still had a two story dwelling (5 Water Street) and it now had a one story garage
in the rear. The entire northern line of this lot was covered by a large one story garage with an eight car
capacity. The large three story dwelling and tenement had been replaced by a three story structure with
three flats (9, 11, and 11A Water Street). Two of these flats seemed to be associated and shared a one
story structure in the rear. The other flat appears separate but aiso had a one story structure in the rear.
Behind this structure on the northern edge of the lot was a long, narrow unidentified one story structure
with another one story to the west of it. The structure in the southwest of this lot which was once a saloon
was now a store. The structure was still two and a half stories with a two story structure adjacent. There
were still three one story structures in the rear, two were associated with the store but had a slightly
different configuration than on the previous map. In 1951 (see Figure 27), the only modification occurred
when the large capacity garage along the northern edge of the lot was replaced by two one story storage
facilities.

Date Grantor Grantee | Notes
9-04-1992 Peter, Salvatore, Frank P. Marino, | United Statcs of America
and Marie DiMarzio
5-19-1692 Peter, Salvatore, and Frank P. | Peter, Salvatore, Frank P.
Marino Marino, and Marie DiMarzio
3-08-1961 One Water Street Inc. Peter Marino

5-26-1956 Frank H. Kotte One Water Street Inc.
7-08-1944 | William J. O’Brien (heir of | Frank H. Kotte

Cornelius J. O’Brien)
3-05-1932 Rose Lee Cornelius J. O’Brien
4-20-1928 Comelius J. O’Brien Rose Lee

2-02-1928 A. Emma, Christian J., Helen, and | Comnelius J. O’Brien Historic Lot 90
Charles K. Bardes
2-02-1928 A. Emma, Christian I., Helen, and | Cornelius J. O’Brien

Historic Lots 97,99,

Charles K., and Louis Bardes 236
8-02-1927 Cornelius J. O’Brien Rose Lee
3-16-1927 Cornelius J. O’Brien Rose Lee Historic Lots 101,103
7-19-1926 | Barbara Winter (deceased) Comelius J. O’Brien Historic Lots 101, 103
7-31-1911 Martha Robinson Christian J. Bardes Historic Lot 90
16-08-1899 | Winslow Robinson William and Martha Robinson | Historic Lot 90
4-19-1893 William and Winslow Robinson Martha Robinson Historic Lot 90
6-09-1885 Victor DeLuanay (deceased) William Robinson Historic Lot 90
6-04-1885 Victor DeLuanay John Bardes Historic Lots 91,92

Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 492, Lot 31 saw three dwellings appear at the same time as city sewer and water
services were installed within Water Street. Subsequent development created additional residential
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structures. However, none of the residential structures relied on individual sewer and water lines. Rather,
this portion of the project received city water and sewer in the 1880s. The lack of potential residential
structures predating city utilities indicates this lot does not possess archaeoclogical sensitivity for historic
period residential archaeological resources.

4.7, Block 493, Lot 12

Block 493 is bounded by Water Street to the north, Front Street to the east, Canal Street to the south and
Bay Street on the west. Lot 12 is a large rectangular lot on the eastern end of the block and is 175 feet in
length and 135 feet in width. It is currently a parking lot with any structures and is owned by Front Street
LLC with a Water Street address.

Lot History

In 1845 (Figure 28), the northern half of this lot, located on present day Water Street, was located within
the Bay of New York. The southern half of lot 12 was comprised of historic lots 59, 60, 61, 62, 63 and
65, each lot measuring 60 feet in length and 25 feet in width (Blood 1845). The George Root Survey of
1847 shows a significant difference, however (see Figure 10). Water Street was east of Front Street and a
block with sixteen lots separated Water and Front streets. Lot 12 was bounded by Beach Street (modern
Water Street) on the north and Canal Street on the south. Fourteen historic lots make up modern Lot 12;
seven of these lots measured 25°x75° while the seven historic lots measured 25°x60°. The lots on the
northern side of the block, measuring 75° in length, were not numbered while the southern half’s lots
possessed the same historic lot numbers as shown in the 1845 survey. Running east to west across the
middle of modern Lot 12 was a canal that ran into the Bay of New York. The Root Map of 1852 (see
Figure 11) shows the same fourteen lot divisions; the northern historic lots were now numbered 83-88.
No structures are shown within modern Lot 12. The 1874 Beers Atlas (see Figure 24) shows six
structures on approximately seven lots. Included among these structures was the Stapleton Hotel and
properties belonging to B. Brown, G. Winter, and T.R.R.

The 1885 Sanborn (see Figure 14) shows numerous structures on Lot 12. On the southeast corner of the
lot, at the northwest corner of Canal and Bay Streets, historic lot 59, is the Stapleton Hotel. This was a
two story wood frame structure with a bar and was owned by Mathias Brand (Webb 1886). Historic lot
60 had a vacant two story structure and a two story laundry facility with a one story structure in the rear.
Continuing west to historic lot 61 is a two story structure labeled “lunch” with two one story structures in
the rear. Historic ot 62 contains an unidentified structure. A sewer structure ran west to east at the center
of historic lots 61 and 62, within the general location of the canal depicted in the 1847 map (see Figure
10). Historic lots 63 contained a livery stable fronting Canal Street and a two story salon with a cone story
shed opening onto Water Street. On historic lot 64, two commercial structures were located on Canal
Street (a tobacconist and a plumber) while on the north side of this lot was a two story livery extending
orto historic lot 65 with a one story stable in the rear. Historic lot 65 also contained a two story saloon
with a two story structure in the rear that opened into a Congert Hall. Just north of and directly abutting
the Concert Hall was a one story shed adjacent to the two story livery stable. This livery stable was in the
location of historic lots 83 and 84. Historic lot 85 contained the aforementioned saloon opposite historic
lot 63. Former lots 86-89 contained a two story dwelling with a one story shed to the east. This dwelling
had a back yard which appeared to have encompassed the remainder of the lots in modern Lot 12. By
1885, water utilities appear {0 have been installed along Canal Street as a fire hydrant is depicted in front
of the vacant structure at historic lot 60.
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The 1898 Sanborn map (see Figure 17) is more detailed and shows an increase in residential occupation.
The lots were renumbered and the addresses had letter designations. This map also indicates municipal
water pipes had been installed on all surrounding streetbeds. The hydrant on Canal Street previously
noted in 1885 remains in the same location in 1898. Munmnicipal sewer lines were installed ten years later
in 1908 (DEP 2005). The Stapleton Hotel was not noted on this map, but it seems as if the original
structure was converted into a larger two story dwelling. This structure encompassed historic lots 829
and 830 (K, L, and M Canal Street) and had two separate one story dwellings attached in the rear.
Historic lots 827 and 828 (I and J Canal Street) now had a small two story dwelling and a large wagon
shed. The dwelling had a one story structure and the wagon shed had a large two story stable attached to
the rear. Historic lot 826 (I Canal Street) had another smaller, one story wagon shed with a two story
stable that is associated with the larger wagon shed. A structure wath two stories housed two stores on
historic lot 825 (G and H Canal Streets) with a back yard abutting historic lot 841.

In 1898, the western end of modern Lot 12 was comprised of a large unidentified structure (the former
concert hall) with two saloons at either end. These saloons were located on historic lots 824 and 840 (F
Canal Street and O Water Street) and the saloons had frontage on both Canal and Water Streets. This
entire structure was “brick filled” and the unidentified structure was only one story whereas the saloons
were two and three stories. The saloon on Water Street was part of the three story structure on historic lot
841 (P and  Water Street) which accommodated a cabinet maker and a store. This lot also contained a
ore story rectangular structure at the rear of the lot that extended into historic lot 825 to the south.

There were two structures on historic lot 842 (R Water Street). The southern side of Water Street had a
two story dwelling with a large unidentified one story in rear of the lot with a small, vacant corner in the
west. Historic lots 843 and 844 (S and T Water Street) shared a two story dwelling with a yard which
covered most of the southern half of the lot. Lot 843 also had an unidentified one story structure in the
southwest corner of the lot with the remainder of the land to the north left vacant. Historic lots 845 and
846 were mostly vacant except for two small, unidentified one story structures on each lot.

The 1917 Tax map shows that the current lot 12 consisted of lots 12, 15, 19, 22, 27, and 30. The Sanborn
map (see Figure 26) from the same year shows these lots as mostly residential with mimerical street
addresses. The historic lot 12 was the largest measuring 50x135 and was sold by Hugo Mock to Muir
Realty in 1917 (Liber 981, page 380). The southeast corner of this lot had two dwellings of two stories
each adjacent to a saloon in the former location of the Stapleton Hotel; the saloon property was now
owned by C. Venderbilt (DEP 2005). To the north were three small one story structures, Historic lot 63
contained a vacant two story building. On the Canal Street side of historic lot 64 were two narrow two
story dwellings, adjacent to historic lot 65 containing the vacant 2 story building formerly housing the
saloon with the concert hall in the back. On the north side of modern Lot 12, the following structures
were located (listed west to east on Water Street): 16 Water Strect contained a three story saloon; 14 4
Water Street — three story store; 14 Water Street — three story store with a 1 story structure in the rear; 12
Water Street — two story dwelling; 10 Water Street — two story dwelling; 8 Water Street — two story
dwelling; 6 Water Street — two story dwelling; 4 Water Street — two story dwelling,

The 1937 Sanborn map shows a dramatic decrease in both residential and commercial structures. At the
southeast corner of Canal and Front Streets, in the footprint of the former saloon resides a store with a one
story addition in the rear. The rest of Canal Street consists of vacant lots. At the northeast corner of Lot
12 (adjacent to the SIRT) is a three story structure that housed three stores. The store in the northwest
corner has a one story brick structure attached and at the southwest corner of the lot there is a separate
structure to the south. The next lot contains a large two story structure with three dwellings although the
majority of this lot is vacant. The lot at the northeast corner of Water and Front Streets has two separate
two story dwellings both with one story structures attached on either side of the buildings. There are two
one story private garages with frontage on Front Street that share a vacant parcel to the west.
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In 1951 (see Figure 27), the Sanborn map only shows eight structures on the whole block. The store still
exists in the southeast comer of Canal and Front Streets and shares an unidentified one story structure
with the lot directly north. To the west is another store with a one story structure. These are the onty
structures on Canal Street at this time. The lot directly north (with frontage on Water Street) contains
what looks to be the same structure from the previous Sanborn map, however, only one of the dwellings
was occupied. The other two were labeled vacant. The lot to the east also had what appeared to be the
same structures from the previous map — two separate two story dwellings with one story on either side.

Date Grantor _ Grantee - Notes
10-25-2001 Front Street Realty Corp. Front Street LLC.

9-12-1966 Albritt Reaity Corp. Front Street Realty Corp.

8-19-1966 Sam Salerno/ Albritt Realty Corp. Release of Option

5-12-1966 Sam Salerno/ Albritt Realty Corp. Release of Option

5-11-1966 Sam Salerno/ Albritt Realty Corp. Release of Option

7-18-1961 Alex DiBrizad Albritt Realty Corp.

4-11-1956 The City of New York Alex DiBriza

3-15-1954 Treasurer of the City of New York The City of New York

1-27-1947 South Atlantic Realty Alex DiBrizzi

5-06-1927 Muir Realty Corp. South Atlantic Realty Historic Lot 12
4-14-1927 Julius C Muller (deceased) South Atlantic Realty Historic Lot 15
3-16-1917 Hugo Mock Muir Realty Historic Lot 12
11-18-1913 Edward C Meurer Hugo Mock Historic Lot 825
7-27-1892 Thomas and Ellen Brown Mathilda Meurer (wife of Edward) Historic lot 63
8-05-1878 William S Hornfager (referee) Thomas Brown Historic lot 63
11-24-1845 County of Richmond William J Staples

Summary and Conclugions

The area of Block 493, Lot 12 saw several structures appear by the 1870s. One of these structures
functioned as the Stapleton Hotel, while other structures were owned by a B. Brown, G. Winter, and
T.R.R. It is unknown if these structures were residences or commercial locations. By 1885, additional
structures appeared on the lot, but sewer and water facilities were available to the block. The lack of
potential residential structures predating city utilities indicates this lot does not possess archaeological
sensitivity for historic period residential archaeological resources.

4.8. Block 494, Lot 18

Block 494 lies between Canal and Thompson streets and Front and Bay streets. Lot 18 is a small,
rectangular lot located on the northern half of the block with frontage on Canal Street. This lot is 149.14
feet west of the northeast corner of Front and Canal Streets. It measures 27.06 feet across Canal Street
and is 100 feet deep. It is bounded by lots 15, 19, and 30. Lot 18 is owned by Front Street LLC., and has
a structure dating from 1931 at the address of 44 Canal Street.

Lot History

In 1845 (see Figure 28), Lot 18 corresponded with historic fot 43 and lacked development. An 1847
Survey shows the same vacant lot 43, but with a different street configuration (see Figure 10). Water
Street was located at the water’s edge with Front Street located to the west. There was a small rectangular
block east of modern Block 494, containing seven unnumbered and vacant lots. The 1852 survey,
however, does not depict this small cluster of lots, instead indicating a ferry dock here (see Figure 11).
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The 1874 Robinson Atlas shows this lot to be empty (see Figure 24). By 1885, a two story structure is
present in the northwest corner of Lot 18 with an address of 27 Canal Street (see Figure 14). Lot 18 was
owned by Mary Jane Scott at the time, who had purchased the property from William J. Staples in 1378
(Liber 123, page 160). A shed appears in the southwest comer, and a driveway runs through the center,
The 1898 Robinson Atlas (see Figure 25) shows a structure on this lot while the 1898 Sanborn map
indicates there are two dwellings within Lot 18 (see Figure 17). Each dwelling has two stories and front
on Canal Street. This map also confirmed that municipal water lines had been installed by this time,
whereas, sewer had been installed on the adjacent streetbeds four years earlier in 1892 (DEP 2005).

The topographical survey from 1908 of the area shows a two story brick structure in the northern end with
an unidentifiable structure in the southern. The 1917 Sanborn map (see Figure 26) shows this lot as
having a single two story dwelling with an attached one story structure (located at 42 Canal Street). This
property was now owned by Frederic T. Scott who purchased it in 1915. There also remained a one story
structure in the southwest corner. By 1917, the lots reflect the modern configuration and numbering.

The 1937 Sanborn map indicates there were now two dwellings bisected by a drive or passageway. These
were two story structures but the address was the current 44 Canal Street and owned by Frederic Scott
(Liber 782, page 263). The structures behind the dwellings were identified as one and two story sheds, In
1951 (see Figure 27), Viola E. and Harold Thorn owned this property and the Sanborn map indicates a
two story structure on the lot. The structure is labeled as “Auto Body Works” with “spray painting” at the
rear one story building (Liber 1080, page 450; Sanborn, 1951).

Date Grantor ' | Grantee
2-28-2000 United States of America, Secretary of the | Front Street LLC.

Navy
7-05-1991 Albert E. and Faye P. Hensley United States of America, Naval Facilities

Engineering Command

12-18-1964 | Viola E. Thorn Albert E. and Faye P. Hensley
7-12-1949 Rene L. Allegre Viola E. and Harold Thorn
10-30-1947 | Mary Goetz Scott decree of Frederick T. Scott | Rene L. Allegre

deceased
5-14-1936 Ignatz and Angelina Dinapoli Frederick Scott
9-16-1930 Salvatore and Antonina Arnone Ignatz Dinapoli
6-29-1927 Frederick and May T. Scott Salvatore and Antonina Arnone
12-31-1915 { Mary Jane Scott {widow of John Scott) Frederick Scott
1-28-1878° | William J. Staples Mary Jane Scott
2-23-1846 Elizabeth Sherman, John C. Thempson, | William J. Staples

Minthorne Tompkins

Summary and Conciusions

The area of Block 494, Lot 18 was developed in the 1880s. The original function of the structure was
unknown, though it was not indicated to be a residential structure. Municipal utilities were installed on
Canal Street by the 1890s. By 1917, the existing structure was used as a dwelling. The lack of potential
residential structures predating city utilities indicates this lot does not possess archaeological sensitivity
for historic period residential archaeological resources.

4,9. Block 494, Lot 19

Block 494 lies between Canal and Thompson streets and Front and Bay streets. Lot 19 is a rectangular lot
125 feet west of the southwestern corner of Canal and Front Streets. It is bounded by Canal Street, lots

* Historic Lot 43
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18, 21, and 30 and is 100 feet in length and 24.14 feet in width. Front Street LLC currently owns the lot;
there is a single structure, constructed in 1931, with an address of 42 Canal Street.

Lot History

In 1845 (sec Figure 28), Lot 19 corresponded with historic lot 46, with approximately the same
dimensions as the modern lot, and lacked structures (Blood 1845). An 1847 Survey (see Figure 10)
depicts the same lot number and dimensions but with a different street configuration. A small block with
seven vacant, unnumbered lots was located the east of Block 494. This block lay between Water and
Front streets with Water Street being the easternmost street along the water.

The 1874 Beers Atlas (see Figure 24) shows a single structure on this lot with an unknown function. The
1885 Sanborn Map (see Figure 14) shows a two story structure labeled Hay & Straw and a one story
structure in the rear on the southern edge of the lot possibly used for storage. The 1898 Sanborn Map (see
Figure 17) shows this structure was no longer commercial but a two story dwelling with a yard and a one
story structure in the rear. The historic lot number had changed to 805 and the address was 25 Canal
Street. This map also confirmed that municipal water lines had been installed by this time, whereas,
sewer had been installed on the adjacent streetbeds four years earlier in 1892 (DEP 2005).

By 1917 the lot number and dimensions had changed to reflect the modern configuration and numbering
(see Figure 26). Lot 19 contained the single story dwelling with a one story structure in the southeastern
corner of this lot. By 1937 there was a two story structure with two separate stores, Along the southern
edge of this lot there was a long rectangutar shed which extended into lot 18. Their addresses were 42A
and 42B Canal Street. By 1951 (see Figure 27), these structures were no longer present (Sanborn 1951);
however, this information conflicts with the 1931 date of construction for the existing structure (NYC
DOF 2006).

Date Grantor ) _ Graniee’
2-28-2000 United States of America Front Street LLC.
1-14-1993 Joseph Bruzzese USA Naval Facilities Engineering Command
12-15-1983 | Michael Fink Joseph Bruzzese
12-15-1983 [ 1063 Spot Inc. Michael Fink
6-05-1980 1063 Spot Inc. Michael Fink
7-26-1977 Michael Fink 1063 Spot Inc.
2-09-1977 Joseph P. DeFranco Michael Fink
5-02-1969 Peter A. Manfredi Joseph P. DeFranco
11-17-1967 | Margaret Lisinski Peter A. Manfiedi, Joseph P. DeFranco
3-08-1960 William Lynch Joseph S. Lesinski
4-28-1955 City of New York William Lynch
3-15-1954 Treasurer of the City of New York City of New York
11-29-1937 Louis Basso, Marie Garbarino Louis Basso
1-11-1927 NI Refrigeration Co./ John B. Basso
Lembeck & Betz Eagle Brewing Co.
5-03-1918 Montague Lessler (Referee) Lembeck & Betz Eagle Brewing Co.
12-31-1915 | Mary Jane Scott (widow of John Scott) Frederick Scott
4-25-1857 Robert and Francis Christie Mary Jane Scott
8-27-1846 Elizabeth Sherman William J. Staples

Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 494, Lot 19 was developed in the 1870s. The original function of the structure was
unknown, though it was not indicated to be a residential structure. By the 1880s, this structure was used
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for storing hay and straw. In the 1890s, this structure was converted in to a dwelling and municipal
utilities were installed on Canal Street around the same time. The lack of potential residential structures
predating city utilities indicates this lot does not possess archaeological sensitivity for historic period
residential archaeological resources.

4.10. Block 494, Lot 21

Block 494 lies between Canal and Thompson streets and Front and Bay streets. Lot 21 is a rectangular lot
75 west from the northwest corner of Canal and Front Streets. It is 100 feet in length and 50 in width. It
is currently owned by Front Street LLC and has an address of 36 Canal Street. The existing structure was
built in 1931.

Lot History

An 1845 Survey (see Figure 28) shows Lot 21 corresponded with historic lots 47 and 58, which each were
75 feet in length and 25 feet in width (Blood 1845), The 1847 Root Survey (see Figure 10) indicates the
same numbered lots; however, the surrounding streets were different. Water Street was located at the
water’s edge with Front Street lying more to the west and parallel with Water Street. A small block of
seven lots was also located directly east of Block 494. In 1852 (see Figure 11), Lot 21 remained without
any structures (Root 1852).

The 1874 Beers Atlas shows two unidentified structures on this lot (see Figure 24). The 1885 Sanborn
Map, however, showed several structures were now present within Lot 21 (see Figure 14). In the
northwest corner, there was a fish market housed within a two story structure with a one story in the rear
at an address of 23 Canal Street. This meat market was adjacent to a two story structure with a passage or
driveway. Behind this two-story structure was a large yard with three structures: a one-story structure, a
two-story structure at 21 % Canal Street and a two-story stable. In the northeast comer of Lot 21, at 21
Canal Street, was a three story butcher/meat market with a connected one story structure in the rear,

In 1898 (see Figure 17), Lot 21 covered historic lots 806 and 807. Eliza Garret had owned this property
since 1880 and would remain the owner until 1907 (Liber 134, page 38). But according to the Webb’s
Consolidated Directory, Eliza Garret lived on Tompkins Avenue in 1886 and probably never occupied her
Canal Street property (Webb 1886). Lot 807 contained the three story structure in the northeast comer
that once housed the butcher shop and was now a dwelling with an associated one story structure in the
rear and the adjacent two story structure. The address was still 21 Canal Street, but there was a new one
story structure directly south of it that was not present in the 1880s. The stable was now two and a half
stories with a one story structure associated. Lot 806 had a one story structure along its southern edge and
a two siory structure with the address 23 Canal Street. This structure was commercial and held two
separate businesses. One of which appeared to be a barber and the other was unmarked. They both had
associated one story structures and there appeared to be a large yard. Municipal water lines had been
installed by this time while sewer lines had been established in 1892.

By 1917 (see Figure 26), the lot numbers had changed to the modern configuration, though modern Lot
21 was split between historic lots 21 and 22. The heirs of Thomas Brainiff had sold the lots to Moritz
Glaubel and Charles Rosenberg (Liber 337, page 105). The Rosenberg’s owned at least part of this
property from 1917 until 1958 but there is no evidence of their occupancy (Liber 827, page 535; Liber
1073, page 231; Liber 1388, page 127; Liber 1417, page 52). The Sanbom Map of this year showed the
three story dwelling in the northeast comer of lot 22 was now a store with an associated one story
structure in the rear and the address of 36 Canal Street. The two story adjacent structure with the
driveway was there but was not associated with it and had the address 38 Canal Street. The northwest
corner of lot 21, at 40 Canal Street, had another store with two stories and an adjoining two story structure
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in the rear.  All of these structures had significant yard space. The southern edge of these two lots
contained two unidentified one story structures.

The 1937 Sanborn map shows there were few changes in twenty years. All structures were intact except
the two along the southern edge of the lot which was now vacant. The 1951 Sanborn Map is illegible
except for a one story structure in the southern end of the lot (see Figure 27). Modern Lot 21 remained
split between historic lots 21 and 22.

Date: Granter ' Grantee ) ' Note
2-28-2000 | United States of America Secretary of | Front Street LLC
the Navy
6-17-1993 { Commissioner of Finance the City of | City of New York
New York
4-23-1990 James R. McConneil United States of America
11-24-1986 { Commissioner of Finance the City of | City of New York
New York
8-31-1981 Peter Oliver James R. McConnell
2-21-1981 RDIJ Associates Corp. Peter Oliver

1-21-1969 | Irving Selznick, Selgar Realty Corp., | RDJ Realty Corp.
8.0. Selznick Corp.

7-26-1966 Steven O. Selznick $.0. Selznick Corp.
4-17-1964 Joshua and Pauline Brown Steven O, Selznick
8-27-1963 Louise W. Kaufman Joshua and Pauline Brown

3-07-1958 Edwin L., Claudia K., Donald, and J. | Louis Kauftnan
Donald Rosenberg

4-25-1957 Claudia K. Rosenberg Edwin L., Claudia K., and J. Donald
Rosenberg
5-03-1949 | Estate of Charles Rosenberg Inc. Claudia K. Rosenberg

6-19-1940 Survivor, Executor, Trustee, of deccased | Estate of Charles Rosenberg Inc.
Charles Rosenberg

5-21-1917 | Heirs of Thomas Brainiff Moriz Glaubel, Charles Rosenberg

3-23-1907 | Eliza Garret Heirs of Thomas Brainiff

6-30-1380 | Eliza K. Goold Eliza Garret

2-19-1877 | Walter T. Elliot (referee) Eliza K. Goold

4-25-1857 | Robert and Francis Christie | Mary Jane Scott | Former lot 58
8-27-1846 | Elizabeth Sherman | William J. Staples | Former lot 58

Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 494, Lot 21 was developed by the 1870s and in the 1880s, a fish store and a butcher
were present in this lot. Inthe 1890s, municipal utilities were installed on Canal Street. By 1898, at least
one of the structures present in modern Lot 21 was a residence. In the early twentieth century, the
structures housed several stores. The lack of potential residential structures predating city utilities
indicates this lot does not possess archacological sensitivity for historic period residential archaeological
resources.

4.11. Block 494, Lot 24
Block 494 lies between Canal and Thompson streets and Front and Bay streets, Lot 24 is located on the

eastern half of the block with frontage on Canal and Front Streets. The lot is 75 feet in width and 100 feet
in length with a Front Street address and currently has a one-story structure and a cellular
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telecommunications facility; however, according to data from NYC DOF, this lot does not contain a
structure.

Lot History

In 1845 (see Figure 28), Lot 24 corresponded with historic lots 54, 55, 56 and 57. It was also in this year
that the County of Richmond sold historic lot 57 to William J. Staples (Liber 13, page 189). These lots
were each 25 feet in width and 100 feet in length with no structures (Blood 1845). The 1847 Root Survey
(see Figure 10) shows the same information, however, Water Street was the easternmost street at the
water’s edge. In 1852 Front Street (see Figure 11) was shown as the easternmost street and Lot 24, which
still consisted of historic lots 54-57, was directly across from the Ferry Dock on the Bay of New York
with no structures. The 1874 Beers Map (see Figure 24) still depicts no development within Lot 24 but
the initials R.S. are present in the lot. '

The 1885 Sanborn Map (see Figure 14) shows a four story structure belonging to a Masonic Lodge. At
the northeast comer of Canal and Front Streets stood Schafer’s Hotel and bar with the address 703 Canal
Street. Next door, at 704 Canal Street was a billiard room and 705 Canal Street was a dwelling with a
boot and shoe maker. In the rear of the hotel there was a two story wooden framed structure associated
with the hotel and the Billiard room had a one story in the rear. These structures had significant backyard
areas. Inthe southeast corner of the lot was a one and a half story dwelling with an associated one story
structure in the rear with the address of 703 '. In the middle of this lot was a one story rectangular,
unidentified structure.

In 1898 (see Figure 17), Lot 24 consisted of historic lots 812, 813, 814 and 815. The same four story
structure is present but with different occupants. The northeast corner housed a saloon and now had two
associated structures in the rear. The rest of the structure consisted of dwellings with a cobbler in the
northwest corner and open yard spaces. The southeast comer of the lot contained a one story shed with
various unidentified one story structures along the perimeter of the lot and in the center. This map also
indicated municipal water lines had been installed by this time whereas sewer lines had been installed in
1892 (DEP).

By 1917 (see Figure 26) the lot configuration matched the modern and the property still had a large four
story structure. The Kotte’s Hotel was at the northeast corner of the lot with the address of 30 Canal
Street and a store with the address of 32 Canal Street was in the northwest corner. Both these structures
had one and two story associated structures in the rear and considerable yard space. In the southeast
corner of lot 24 was a small one story structure and in the southwest was a large, unidentified, L-shaped
one story structure. The 1937 Sanborn indicates there were now four stores housed in this structure.
These businesses had the addresses 30A, 30, 32, and 34 Canal Street. The same one story structures from
the previous survey were present in the rear. By 1951 (See Figure 27) not much had changed except the
L-shaped structure was replaced by a rectangular building used for storage.

Summary and Conclusions

The area of Block 494, Lot 24 was developed by the 1870s and in the 1880s, Schafer’s Hotel, containing
a bar and billiards, was present. A dwelling stood at the northwest corner of Lot 24. In the early 1890s,
municipal utilities were installed on Canal Street. Because city municipal utilities were installed around
the same time of the dwelling’s occupation, this lot does not possess archaeclogical sensitivity for historic
period residential ar